
 

 

 

 
City of Woodstock 

Office of the City Manager 
Phone (815) 338-4301   Fax (815) 334-2269 

citymanager@woodstockil.gov 
www.woodstockil.gov 

121 W. Calhoun Street          Roscoe C. Stelford III  
Woodstock, Illinois 60098         City Manager 
 

                       WOODSTOCK CITY COUNCIL 

City Council Chambers 

March 4, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 

                                 

Any Person Wishing to Address the City Council 

Must Approach the Podium, be Recognized by the 

   Mayor, and Provide Their Name and Address for the Record 

   

The proceedings of the City Council meeting are being audio-recorded only 

to aid in the preparations of the Minutes and are not retained as part of the 

permanent records of the City. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

 

ROLL CALL: 

          

 

FLOOR DISCUSSION 

 

Anyone wishing to address the Council on an item not already on the agenda may do 

so at this time. 

1. Public Comments 

2. Council Comments    

                   

CONSENT AGENDA: 
(NOTE: Items under the consent calendar are acted upon in a single motion.  There is 

no separate discussion of these items prior to the Council vote unless: 1) a Council 

Member requests that an item be removed from the calendar for separate action, or 2) 

a citizen requests an item be removed and this request is, in turn, proposed by a 

member of the City Council for separate action.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Woodstock City Council  

March 4, 2014 

Page Two 

 

    

A        MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS:              

            February 18, 2014 Regular Meeting 

  

  

B.       WARRANTS:   3605      3606   MFT #532    

 

 

 

C. MINUTES AND REPORTS:  

 Opera House Advisory Commission - 2013 Year Report 

            Police Department Report – January 2014 

 Transportation Commission Minutes – January 15, 2014 

 Historic Preservation Commission Minutes – January 27, 2014 

  

  

  

D. MANAGER'S REPORT NO. 19 

 

1.  Board and Commission Appointment – Economic Development        

 Commission – Approval of the nomination of Ryan O’Connor to the     

  Economic Development Commission.  

 

2.     Ryder’s Woods Property Grant Proposal - Adoption of a Resolution 

authorizing application to the 2014 ComEd Green Region Program for 

the Ryder’s Woods Final Stage Habitat Restoration Project. 

 

            3.    Liquor Amendment – BYOB License – Adoption of an Ordinance        

                                            amending Title 3, Chapter 3, Liquor Control, of the Woodstock City       

                                            Code, creating a third classification of BYOB Permit, the BYOB Non-    

                                            Restaurant Permit. 

 

4.     Zoning Variation – 1040 Lake Avenue – Adoption of an Ordinance 

varying Section 7A.3C of the Unified Development Ordinance to allow 

the construction of two building additions at 1040 Lake Avenue. 

 

             5.   Award of Contract – Hill Street Water Tower Improvements –          

                     Approval of an award of contract for Hill Street Water Tower                

                     Improvements to Water Tower Clean & Coat. 

 

 6.     Purchase – Police Vehicles – Approval to purchase three replacement 

vehicles for the City of Woodstock Police Department. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(19a) 

 

 

 

(19b)(Doc.1) 

 

 

 

(19c)(Doc.2) 

 

 

 

 

(19d)(Doc.3) 

 

 

 

(19e) 

 

 

 

(19f) 

 

 

 

 





MINUTES 

WOODSTOCK CITY COUNCIL 

February 18, 2014 

City Council Chambers 

 

The regular meeting of the Woodstock City Council was called to order at 7:00 PM by Mayor Brian 

Sager on Tuesday, February 18, 2014 in Council Chambers at City Hall.  He explained the consent 

calendar process and invited public participation.  

 

A roll call was taken.   

  

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Maureen Larson, Mayor Brian Sager, Mark Saladin, Joseph 

Starzynski, RB Thompson 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: Michael Turner, Julie Dillon 

 

STAFF PRESENT: City Manager Roscoe Stelford, City Attorney Ruth Schlossberg, Finance Director 

Paul Christensen, Economic Development Director Cort Carlson, Opera House Director John Scharres, 

Human Resources Coordinator Terry Willcockson, Director of Public Works Paul Ruscko, Library 

Director Nick Weber, Chief of Police Robert Lowen, Deputy City Clerk Cindy Smiley, Planning and 

Zoning Administrator Jim Kastner 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  City Clerk Dianne Mitchell 

 

A. FLOOR DISCUSSION:   

1.) Proclamation Recognizing Music in the Schools Month 

Mayor Sager recognized the Woodstock students and Paul Rausch who were in attendance.  He 

stated that one of the true blessings of the community is the strong music program at the high 

schools.  He stated that P. Rausch has been a faculty member, a mentor, a teacher and a caring, 

contributing individual within the community for many years and noted that he has done an 

exceptional job in his promotion of the import of education and music as form of art within the 

culture of the community. 

 

P. Rausch introduced the male a cappella group Standing Room Only and the female a cappella 

group Premium Blend.  He introduced Chris Rausch who is the Assistant Choral Director at 

Woodstock High School where he directs the after school a cappella groups and noted that he is 

also the Kindergarten music teacher at Verda Dierzen Early Learning Center.  Premium Blend 

performed and then Standing Room Only performed.   

 

Mayor Sager stated that they have a tremendous amount of appreciation of the students’ 

dedication and hard work that went into their performance.  He stated that their hard work 

extends to their music and equally to their studies, sports and community service efforts.  He 

asked everyone to join him in recognizing their incredible accomplishments.  Mayor Sager 

presented the proclamation recognizing the month of March as Music in the Schools Month.   

 

Kathy Finke stated that she is a Music Booster and has a daughter at Woodstock High School.  

She expressed her gratitude for all of the support from the community and for their wonderful 

musical directors.  P. Rausch thanked the City of Woodstock for the recognition and encouraged 

everyone to come to the schools to enjoy the music programs that they have to offer.  

 



Woodstock City Council 

2/18/14 

Page 2 of 4 

 

RB Thompson stated that there is a strong correlation between academic success and music.  

Mayor Sager stated that one of the values that the City of Woodstock upholds is the value of 

culture.  He stated that we recognize that music is an integral part of culture to our society and to 

this community.  He believes that art is one of the important elements that contribute to the fabric 

of our community; it is essential to that fabric.   

 

2.) Proclamation Honoring Dave Reeve 

Mayor Sager read the proclamation honoring Dave Reeve who has officially retired as the 

Woodstock Opera House Production Manage after serving the City of Woodstock for the past 21 

years.  He stated that D. Reeve could not attend the meeting and asked J. Scharres to accept the 

proclamation and forward to D. Reeve. 

 

Public Comments 

No comments from the public. 

 

Council Comments 

M. Larson noted that she was pleased to hear that the City received a salt shipment. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

Motion by M. Saladin, second by M. Larson to concur with Consent Agenda Items B-E6, E8-E9 

 

 M. Saladin removed Item E7 

 In reference to Item E1, M. Saladin stated that he was happy to see such quick action by Staff 

relative to seeking a grant for residential rehab assistance.   

 

Mayor Sager expressed sincere appreciation to Terry Willcockson.  He reported that the City 

stepped out this year by adding a Grants position and noted that they are pleased with the 

decision and with T. Willcockson who is in the position.  He stated that the grants are 

evidence of her dedicated time noting that things were put together over the weekend to make 

the timing of the meeting and the deadline for submission.   

 

R. Stelford reported that T. Willcockson was assisted by Jim Kastner in Community 

Development who developed a program that didn’t exist and Nick Weber and his staff at the 

library who put together everything that was needed for the library submission for the roof.  

Mayor Sager stated that it was time above and beyond and expressed appreciation of their 

hard work and dedicated effort that generated some real viable opportunities. 

 

B.        MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS:              
            February 4, 2014 Regular Meeting 

  

 C.       WARRANTS:   3603      3604   MFT #531    

 

D. MINUTES AND REPORTS:  

 Community and Economic Development Report - January 2014  

  

E. MANAGER'S REPORT NO. 18 

 

1. CDBG Grant – Distressed Housing – Adoption of Resolution 14-R-01 authorizing 

application to the 2014 CDBG Program through McHenry County for Residential 



Woodstock City Council 

2/18/14 

Page 3 of 4 

 

Rehabilitation Assistance  

 

2. CDBG Grant – Library Roof – Adoption of Resolution14-R-02 authorizing 

application to the 2014 Community Development Block Grant through McHenry 

County for the Woodstock Public Library Roof Repair and Renovation Project. 

 

3. Purchase – Cigarette Receptacles – Approval to purchase and install ten (10) 

cigarette litter receptacles in designated locations. 

 

 4.  Designated Depositories - Adoption of Ordinance 14-O-17 designating depositories 

for the City of Woodstock. 

 

 5.  Rejection of Shelving Bids – Notification to Council of the rejection of shelving bids 

for the Woodstock Library. 

 

 6.  Award of Contract – Softener Repair – Approval of the following: 

 a.) An award of contract to Manusos for the teardown and inspection of softener #2 

at the First Street Water Treatment Plant at the base price of $15,500. 

 b.)Waive competitive bids and an award of contract to Drydon Equipment for the 

purchase of ion exchange resin and sand to restore the water softener at the First 

Street Water Treatment Plant for a price not to exceed $23,579. 

 

8.  Award of Contract – Opera House Lighting – Approval of an award of contract to 

the lowest, responsible bidder, MainStage Theatrical Supply Co. for Opera House 

Lighting Project, Phase II for a total delivered price of $42,247.50 ($1,408.25 each). 

 

9. Parking Revisions – Blakely Street - Adoption of Ordinance 14-O-18                                       

amending the Woodstock City Code pertaining to parking revisions on                             

the west side of Blakely between South Street and Forest Avenue. 

      
A roll call vote was taken. Ayes: M. Larson, M. Saladin, Mayor Sager, RB Thompson, J. Starzynski. 

Nays: None. Absentees: J. Dillon, M. Turner. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 

Item E7 Extension Request – Reserve at Woodstock – Adoption of a Resolution granting a 

second extension of time to submit final plat documents for the Reserve at Woodstock 

Subdivision. 
 

M. Saladin stated that he will be recusing himself since Mr. Burney, the attorney, will be joining his 

firm and he doesn’t believe it is appropriate for him to participate in the vote.   

 

M. Saladin left Council chambers at 7:34 PM. 

 

Motion by M. Larson, second by J. Starzynski to adopt Resolution 14-R-03 granting a second 

extension of time to submit final plat documents for the Reserve at Woodstock Subdivision. 
 

RB Thompson stated that it is the history of the Council not to grant a third extension and he advised 

that he will follow with that if it happens.  Mayor Sager concurred with his comment and stated that a 

third extension is traditionally not granted.   



Woodstock City Council 

2/18/14 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 

A roll call vote was taken. Ayes: M. Larson, Mayor Sager, RB Thompson, J. Starzynski. Nays: None. 

Absentees: J. Dillon, M. Turner, M. Saladin. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 

After the conclusion of Item E7, M. Saladin returned to chambers at 7:37 PM. 

 

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

Mayor Sager advised that there is an interest for the municipal band to return to the City’s Sister City 

in Guadalupe, State of Zacatecas in Mexico with an exchange program with the high school possibly 

this September.   

 

Mayor Sager stated there has been an outreach to consider extending the City’s Sister City program 

to the City of Zacatecas which is contiguous with Guadalupe.  He stated that he would like to see if 

Council has a consensus position on the item and noted that they would need to designate the City of 

Zacatecas as an official Sister City.  RB Thompson stated that he was there in September and 

reported that there is receptivity to this and he noted that it does make sense because both 

communities flow one into the other.  Council conceded on proceeding with the future agenda item. 

 

RB Thompson thanked Andrew Celentano for his comments at the last meeting regarding the 

projects with Steve Thompson’s engineering students at Woodstock High School and advised that he 

had an interviewer from the Marian Central Engineering Club come to his door a few days ago to ask 

him about bicycle routes around town. 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

Motion by M. Larson, second by RB Thompson, to adjourn the regular meeting of the City Council 

to the next Regular Meeting on March 4, 2014. A roll call vote was taken. Ayes: M. Larson, M. 

Saladin, Mayor Sager, RB Thompson, J. Starzynski. Nays: None. Absentees: J. Dillon, M. Turner. 

Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 7:47 PM. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

___________________________ 

Dianne Mitchell  

City Clerk 

































































Page -1- 

 

WOODSTOCK OPERA HOUSE ADVISORY COMMISSION 

ANNUAL REPORT FOR CALENDAR YEAR 2013 
 

The members of the commission at the finish of the calendar year were: 

 

Anthony F. Casalino, Chair and at-large member; Ed Hall, Vice-Chair and at-large member; Lisa 

Kelly, representing Friends of the Opera House; Linda Kristensen (replaced by Kristine Hall in 

June), representing the Woodstock Fine Arts Association; Elaine Riner, representing the 

Woodstock Musical Theatre Company; Char Ulanowski, representing TownSquare Players; 

Keith Johnson, at-large member; Mark Schiffer, representing the Woodstock Mozart Festival; 

and Karen Wells, at-large member. 

 

The Commission met on the following dates in 2013: January 15, February 19, April 16, June 18, 

August 20, and October 15. 

 

John H. Scharres, Managing Director, was present at all the meetings. Lori Steinkamp served as 

our secretary. 

 

From Anthony F. Casalino—Chairperson 

 

The Opera House Commission operates on the following vision statement:   

 

The Woodstock Opera House Community Center will continue to be unique and will be a vibrant 

regional arts center that significantly enriches the life of our community and enhances the 

economic viability of the Square and the City of Woodstock.  This vision will be realized 

through: 

 Diverse and expanded programming, 

 Increased local and regional partnerships, and 

 Increased collaborative marketing strategies. 

 

At our January 2013 meeting Ed Hall was re-elected vice-chairperson of the Commission for the 

year. 

 

During the year, Commission members and the managing director reviewed the Opera House 

budget and programming. The Commission also reviewed programs that participating groups 

presented and that the Opera House and its staff produce.  We discussed events and the facilities 

of the Stage Left Café and the summer band concert programs.  We also reviewed news, board 

changes and operations of the participating groups through reports from the group 

representatives at our meetings.  The Commission spends time in discussions regarding inter-

organizational cooperation and marketing of the programs presented at the Opera House. The 

Commission is regularly updated by participating groups as to the programs for the current year 

and plans for the next year.  Communications between and among participating groups and the 

Opera House management continues to be one of the significant functions of the Commission.  

The Commission also met with members of the Hitchcock Design Group and reviewed design 

ideas for an Opera House Marque.  This discussion is ongoing and no recommendation has yet 

been made by the Commission. 



Page -2- 

 

 

Tony Casalino has continued to write a monthly “Now Playing” column for the Woodstock 

Independent (this was my fourth year) to promote the Opera House and its programs.  This year 

his focus was more on individuals who have been and continue to be the life blood of the Opera 

House.  He wrote articles featuring Mark Greenleaf, Daniel Campbell, Frank Harrison (one of 

the founders of the WMTC), Karen Wells (Commission member and one of the founders of the 

TSP), Keith Johnson (Commission member and producer of Stage Left Café programs) and Ed 

Hall (Commission vice-chair and head of William Tell Productions).  In addition he wrote 

columns featuring the Woodstock Children’s Summer Theatre and the late Helen Wright and the 

Woodstock Fine Arts Association’s Creative Living Series.  

 

Tony continued to meet this year with Woodstock Celebrates, Inc., the group of Woodstock 

residents who have formed a committee to promote Orson Welles and other distinguished 

Woodstock residents. In February, following approval by the Woodstock City Council, the group 

officially dedicated the Opera House stage naming it for Mr. Welles.  WCI, is planning 

celebrations to honor the 80
th

 anniversary of the Todd Theatre Festival (held at the Opera House 

in 1934 (May of this year) and Orson Welles’ 100
th

 birthday (May of 2015).  In August WCI 

representatives appeared before the Commission and requested a fee waiver for this year’s event.  

The Commission voted to recommend the waiver and the request was sent to the City Council. 

 

The Commission is aware that the City of Woodstock continues to operate under financial 

constraints due to the slowly improving economy.  In spite of that, the Commission would like to 

once again highlight the need to expand the management staff at the Opera House and provide 

greater support to user groups in building audiences, improving productions and promoting the 

Opera House within and outside of the community.  It is our hope that as the economy continues 

to improve in the next year that the City would be able to revisit the Opera House budget to add 

to the current management staff. 

 
  



Page -3- 

 

Annual Report, 2013-2014 

 

Ed Hall, Vice Chairman and Member at Large  

 

William Tell Productions presented virtuoso guitarist Leo Kottke in his 28th year of playing at 

the Woodstock Opera House. It was great to have Leo here again to almost sold out shows.  I 

plan on booking Leo again this September for another weekend of great music by this guitar 

master. 

 

Ed Hall’s Woodstock Christmas Guitar Night which again sold out in early December, was again 

very well received and a lot of fun.  This 18
th

 annual sold out event featured Tim Sparks from 

MN, Edgar Cruz from OK, and Pat Kirtley from KY.  Every year is my new favorite year and I 

am very proud of Christmas Guitar Night and I appreciate the audience for supporting this event 

for the past 18 years. 

 

I have also reached a milestone in my 33 years of producing shows at the Opera House.  This 

most recent Guitar Night was my 200
th

 individual production.  I have many great memories of 

these shows and 99 percent of them have been successful for me.  I am truly fortunate to have 

had such a close touch with world class talent in a world class venue. 

 

The Opera House is competing with other northern Illinois and Midwest venues for attracting an 

audience to see high quality and popular entertainment, and John Scharres is doing an excellent 

job booking attractive successful artists to draw people to Woodstock.  Our venue is the leader in 

presenting quality national entertainment acts in our area. 

 

The Stage Left Café is a great success and one of my favorite places to perform for an intimate 

occasion or for a comfortable place to relax after a performance in the auditorium upstairs. The 

Stage Left Café is a venue that is truly community based and supported.  

 

Well done and thanks to John and the staff at the Woodstock Opera House for all they do for the 

arts.  

 

I enjoy serving on the Advisory Commission for the Opera House. It is a compilation of citizen’s 

who truly care for the Opera House and its place in our community. 

 

 

2013 Annual Report:   Opera House Advisory Committee      

Submitted by: Keith Johnson 

 

It is hard to believe the Stage Left Café has been in operation ten years.   On September 21’st a 

combination “celebration-fundraiser” was held with musical entertainment by many of the 

groups who utilize the café.   John Hegner, the Glazz Ensemble, Stage Leftovers and Off Square 

Music kept the evening lively.  The event raised $630 to be used for repairs and upgrading of the 

café. 

 

The Performing Arts Assistance program also had a very successful year with more local 

students and teachers participating than ever before.  The Arts Assistance Program allows 



Page -4- 

 

students and teachers from the area to utilize the café for a nominal fee.   This introduces the café 

to wider audiences and allows those just starting in the arts a place to show what they have 

learned. 

 

Off Square Music continues with our twice monthly open mics which introduce people to the 

café and occasionally have a formal concert there.   Stage Left provides the best possible 

environment for smaller events with a state of the art sound system and a supportive staff. 

 

 

WOODSTOCK MOZART FESTIVAL – 2013 Season 

Opera House Advisory Committee Annual Report – 11/19/13 

 

During the spring and early summer, the Woodstock Mozart Festival’s new Resident Trio was 

introduced at 5 performances.  One was at Sun City, another at a joint Woodstock/Crystal Lake 

Chamber of Commerce Mixer, two at Read Between the Lynes book store during a Saturday 

Farmers’ Market, and one at a private party for Festival patrons. 

The Festival celebrated its 27
th

 Anniversary Season from July 27
th

 through August 11 with an 

impressive line-up of recognized artists.  Ukrainian Pianist, Vassily Primakov graced the stage 

during the first weekend with Mozart’s Piano Concerto #17.  Known not only for his inspired 

interpretations of Mozart’s works, Vassily’s recent CHOPIN recording was named “Best New 

CD of the Month of July” by the International Recording Review.  He was invited by WFMT 

Radio for an exclusive hour-long broadcast on the Wednesday before his appearance at the 

Festival.  The orchestra was led by up-and-coming San Francisco Resident Conductor, Donato 

Cabrera, and the concert was superb. 

During the second weekend, the Festival’s principle cellist, Nazar Dzhuryn delivered two 

outstanding performances of Haydn’s C Major Cello Concerto.  Also featured on the programs 

was European Grammy Award winning classical saxophonist, Daniel Gauthier in works that 

included forays into the jazz genre.  The program was designed to be of interest to local 

community music students by featuring both a solo string and solo band instrument.  $10 tickets 

per person for the Sunday afternoon performance were offered to District 200 school students 

and their families at $10 each.  Despite an aggressive marketing effort, only 27 people took 

advantage of this offer, clearly a disappointment. 

Weekend three featured Grammy Award winning string players, Igor Gruppman, violinist and 

conductor, and Vesna Gruppman, viola. Their beautiful programs included Mozart’s Sinfonia 

Concertante resulting in an extraordinary listening experience.  

Ticket sales were down by 100 tickets compared to those of 2012.  Interestingly, this decrease 

was in the lower priced ticket range, and in fact, there was a slight increase in sales of the higher 

priced tickets.  52% of the Festival’s audience came from McHenry County, and 74% from the 

six collar counties including McHenry County.  19% of the audience was from Cook County; 4% 

outlying; and 3% from out of state. 

On September13th and 14
th

, the Festival co-sponsored an Oktoberfest event with Woodstock’s 

Rotary at Emricson Park.  Hans and the Hormones popular band set off Friday evening’s TGIF 

Rocktoberfest featuring German food and beer.  Saturday’s event included afternoon family 

activities, Sun City’s “Let’s Dance Band”, and later, Dei Musikmeisters German Band.  Polka 

Dance lessons and the Beer Stein Contests kept the fun going into the night.  

 

 



Page -5- 

 

 

2013 TownSquare Players Annual Report 

Submitted by:  

 

(no report) 

 

 

2012 Annual Report – Woodstock fine Arts Association 

Submitted by:  Kristine Hall 

 

The Woodstock Fine Arts Association continues to support the arts throughout McHenry County 

by providing quality programming for all ages and awarding scholarships to high school seniors 

gifted in the arts.  Providing financial support for restoration projects at the Woodstock Opera 

House is also part of our mission. Our 23 member volunteer board is a committed, 

geographically diverse group of determined women.  Nothing would be possible without these 

hard working board members. 

 

Children’s Programming  In 2013, we sponsored a very successful Children’s Program aimed at 

junior high aged students.  Most of our past programming for children has targeted the younger 

students.  We contracted with Comedy Sportz Chicago for four programs in October.  Although 

the program was nearly sold out, with a ticket price of $4 per student, the WFAA lost money.  

High talent costs and OH expenses for four shows contributed to the financial loss.  As a board 

we are committed to keeping costs for students as low as possible and while we do not expect a 

profit from our Children’s Programming, we would hope to break even. 

 

Open Book is an author series held at the Woodstock Public Library.  This year Arlene Lynes, 

owner of Read Between the Lynes, helped the WFAA secure the very popular children’s author 

Blue Balliett for Open Book.  We would not have been able to afford Blue, but because of 

Arlene’s connections with Scholastic Books, we were able to hold this event. 

 

Restoration 

In 2012-13 our restoration gift to the Opera House was a digital video system and a new screen.  

The video system was donated in 2012 but the installation of the new screen was not completed 

until the fall of 2013.  The new screen has made a remarkable difference in the clarity of film and 

slide presentations.  We are proud that this system can be used by anyone who incorporates 

video presentations into their shows at the Opera House.   

 

Creative Living speaker series:  The 49
th

 Annual Creative Living Series was playing to 

appreciative audiences while the Creative Living Committee of the WFAA Board was hard at 

work planning for the 50
th

 Anniversary of this remarkable series.  We book most speakers 18 

months out, so we are managing the current season while planning for the next.   

 

The 49
th

 Series featured Laura Claridge talking about her biography of Emily Post “Mistress of 

American Manners.”  Then Matt Lewis & Renato Poliafito shared the story of opening their 

Brooklyn bakery, and brought their brownies (one of Oprah’s favorite things) for everyone in the 

audience.   In January, Wendy McClure, a self-described crazed fan of the “Little House on the 

Prairie” books talked about “The Wilder Life.”   In February, Chef Gale Gand inspired the 



Page -6- 

 

audience with her struggles as an award-winning chef.  (We invited Woodstock High School 

students who were interested in careers in culinary arts to come as our guests.)  In March the 

very popular essayist Joseph Epstein made a return visit to the series to talk about his new book 

“Gossip, the Untrivial Pursuit.”  And for the first time in memory, our speaker was unable to 

arrive the morning of the April program.  John Cole, from the Library of Congress, was stranded 

at National Airport in DC for 24 hours because Chicago’s O’Hare airport was closed.  Using our 

excellent database, we were able to send an email blast to our patrons that morning.  Only 40 of 

the usual 350 patrons arrived, unaware that the program had been cancelled, all braving the 

torrential rains to get to Creative Living.  The OH staff was remarkably helpful that morning, and 

later in refunding the patrons.  John Cole is coming back for our 2014 Creative Living Program.   

 

Scholarship/Talent Showcase:  In 2013 we awarded eight $1000 Woodstock Fine Arts 

Association Helen Wright Scholarships to graduating McHenry County seniors. 

Once again, the annual Talent Showcase was a wonderful opportunity to see the talent and grace 

of these amazing students as they performed on the Opera House stage.  This program, which is 

free to the public, is a lovely reminder of the importance of the arts in education and an 

inspiration to the WFAA Board to continue our support for the arts. 

 

Spring Luncheon  This event is our main fundraiser for programming, scholarships and 

restoration gifts.  The 33
rd

 annual luncheon was held in the Drendel Ballroom, Del Webb in 

Huntley.  Our guest speaker was the best-selling author Elizabeth Berg.   Over 180 guests 

attended the luncheon, which allowed us to add many new patrons to our database.  It was a 

remarkably successful event and very well reviewed in the guest evaluations. 

 

  

 

2013 Annual Report for Advisory Commission 

Submitted by: WMTC – Elaine Riner  

 

    

Woodstock Musical Theatre Company is currently run by a 10 member Board of Directors. The 

members serve on a voluntary basis.  Many of the current Board of Directors served as board 

members for over 25 years, although some are new to the Board over the past couple of years. 

Current Board of Directors include: Kathie Comella, President; Elaine Riner, Vice President; 

Janie Czarny, Treasurer; Beth Davis, Secretary; Mary Beth Brown, MaryAnn Bennett, Teresa 

Freeman, Barry Norton, Steven Rauchenecker, Melissa Marcucci and Virginia Zymonas (Board 

of Directors). 

 

During the 2013 fiscal year WMTC produced Fox on the Fairway in April for 3 weekends, 

Shout! The Mod Musical in October for 3 weekends, and A Christmas Carol for 2 weekends 

during the holiday season this year. We produced 16 performances with total paid tickets sales 

$65,963.  Fox on the Fairway played to an audience of 802 in 9 performances, with an average 

ticket sale of 89 per show.  A Christmas Carol played to an audience of 1,737 in 7 performances, 

with an average ticket sale of 248 per show.  Shout! The Mod Musical played to an audience of 

886 in 9 performances, with an average ticket sale of 98 per show.  

 



Page -7- 

 

The financial health and well-being of WMTC, as always, is something we are concerned about.  

We did not see a financial improvement this fiscal year.  Our ticket sales were lower than 

projected.  We continue to attempt to stay under or within our projected budgets for each show.  

We continue to attempt different strategies to deal with the issue of lower ticket sales causing 

financial struggles.  We continue to have a line of credit with a local bank in our WMTC 

company name, if needed, which we had to utilize this fiscal year.  We continue to: 

 

a. tighten our production budgets for all shows we produce 

b. use volunteers from the WMTC Board of Directors to do many of the stipend staff 

portions when necessary and available 

c. attempt to choose shows that audiences want to see and actors want to perform in; both 

a rather difficult task to determine   

d. we have started the task of applying to the State as a 501C-3 

 

Winter, again this year, was most kind to us. It did not interfere with our shows as in some years 

past.  Thankfully, we had no ice storms or blizzards to contend with during any of our 

productions of A Christmas Carol, which was our biggest average show audience draw. 

 

Even though we faced financial difficulties, there were many positives that came out of the past 

year.  We continued to see that by tightening our budgets, we can produce quality shows.  

Audiences that attended the performances left the Opera House having experience a good time 

and enjoying all of the shows.  Our holiday production continues to be one of the major reasons 

we are able to have a better financial situation to start our spring production. We produce this 

show for two weekends during a very busy time at the Opera House and we would like to thank 

all of those that make this happen.  

 

We saw many new faces auditioning for parts, as well as the return of others, for all three of our 

productions.  

 

We continued holding a small opening night reception after each opening night performance in 

the Opera House Community Room.  The WMTC Board of Directors feel that this is a positive 

way to thank our opening night audience for attending the production, as well as provide a place 

for the cast, staff and crew to celebrate the opening with family and friends and the general 

public . We will continue with the receptions being small; consisting of cake or cookies and 

coffee in the community room of the Opera House for our 2013-2014 season.  

 

Our 2014-2015 season will include 2 musicals and 1 holiday production.  In October we will 

produce the musical Little Shop of Horrors for 3 weekends; our holiday show in November-

December will again be A Christmas Carol for 2 weekends; and the musical Oliver will end our 

season in April with 4 weekends (pending availability). 

 

 

FRIENDS OF THE OPERA HOUSE 

2013 Annual Report for Advisory Commission 

Submitted by: Bonnie O’Neill (for Lisa Kelly) 

 

The following activities and contributions have been completed in 2013: 



Page -8- 

 

 

- A donation was made to the Opera House in the amount of $20,000 to help pay down the 

 debt service for the Annex.   

- A Spring fundraiser “Antique, Fine Art and Collectables Auction” was held on April 6, 2013 

 This was our very first try at a live auction.   

- On October 26
th

, 2013, Friends hosted “Hollywood Halloween”, a fall fundraiser for the 

Opera House. 

- This year’s annual 50/50 raffle netted over $1800.   Drawing held at the “Lighting of the 

Square” event on November 27, 2013. 

- The “Lighting of the Square” reception on November 27
th

 brought in over $1000 dollars in 

contributions. 

- Friends Continues to push for new members and life time members    

 



























 

CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting 

January 15, 2014 

City Council Chambers 

 

The regular meeting of the Woodstock Transportation Commission was called to order at                                    

7:00 PM by Chairman Andrew Celentano on Wednesday, January 15, 2014 in Council 

Chambers at City Hall.  

 

A roll call was taken. 

 

COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chairman Andrew Celentano, Mark Indyke, Caron 

Wenzel, Susan Hudson 

 

COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT: None 

 

STAFF PRESENT:  Assistant Director of Public Works Jeff Van Landuyt 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: City Clerk Dianne Mitchell, McDOT Transportation Planner Jason 

Osborn 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   
Motion by C. Wenzel, second by S. Hudson to accept the August 21, 2013 Special Meeting 

minutes as presented.  Ayes: Chairman A. Celentano, S. Hudson, C. Wenzel, Nays: None. 

Absentees: None. Abstentions: M. Indyke.  Motion carried. 

 

Motion by S. Hudson, second by M. Indyke to accept the September 18, 2013 Regular Meeting 

minutes as presented.  Ayes: S. Hudson, C. Wenzel, M. Indyke. Nays: None. Absentees: None. 

Abstentions: Chairman A. Celentano.  Motion carried. 

 

Motion by M. Indyke, second by S. Hudson to accept the November 20, 2013 Regular Meeting 

minutes as presented.  Ayes: Chairman A. Celentano, S. Hudson, M. Indyke. Nays: None. 

Absentees: None. Abstentions: C. Wenzel.  Motion carried. 

 

Motion by M. Indyke, second by C. Wenzel to accept the December 18, 2013 Special Meeting 

minutes with the following changes: 

Per A. Celentano:  

Page 3, second paragraph, second sentence, should say, “the students said a Woodstock police 

officer…” 

Page 4, 3
rd

 paragraph, last sentence, should say, “…bikes can be ridden on the road with cars…” 

Ayes: Chairman A. Celentano, C. Wenzel, M. Indyke. Nays: None. Absentees: None. 

Abstentions: S. Hudson.  Motion carried. 

 

FLOOR DISCUSSION: 

  None 

 

TRANSMITTALS:  (No discussion or action requested) 

None 

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

1. Overview of 1/9/2014 Meeting w/ students @ Marian Central  



Transportation Commission 

1/15/14 
Page 2 of 6 

 

M. Indyke reported that he met with the Engineering Club Advisor at Marian and went 

over the three projects that they would like to emphasize; bike routes, sidewalk material, 

and asking the City to pass a snow removal ordinance for sidewalks.  A. Celentano 

questioned if there will be three groups and M. Indyke stated that he wasn’t sure if the 

sidewalk materials would be part of the second group.  A. Celentano felt that the snow 

removal ordinance will be a little difficult for them.  M. Indyke reported that he 

recommended that the students meet with Roscoe who can give them some input on how 

ordinances are implemented.   

 

M. Indyke reported that the students said that they are going to take pictures and make a 

presentation and perhaps make a presentation to City Council as well.  J. Van Landuyt 

advised that the students can do a presentation during floor discussion.   

 

A. Celentano asked the Commission if they have any feelings regarding the students’ idea 

to create a change to an ordinance and S. Hudson stated that it is just an intellectual 

exercise and they should be able to explore whatever they want to.  M. Indyke stated that 

any resident can address the City Council; they can make a case about snow removal.  S. 

Hudson stated that it is a definite barrier to transportation so it would be appropriate. 

 

J. Osborn stated that engineering is a big part of snow storage.  He stated that this has been 

a brutal winter and he feels that the project is timely.  He thinks the project would give the 

students an opportunity to think of the intended and unintended consequences of this type 

of ordinance.     

 

C. Wenzel referenced the use of beet juice on icy roads and questioned if it can be used on 

sidewalks and whether the students could recommend it too.  J. Van Landuyt advised that 

there are liquid de-icers for sidewalks.  C. Wenzel stated that putting the de-icer on the 

sidewalks would help make the passage safer.  M. Indyke suggested having the inventor 

meet with the students and J. Osborn advised that his name is Mark DeVries.  

 

M. Indyke stated that he has another meeting scheduled for February 23, 2014 and advised 

that the students will be present and the group will be able to monitor their progress.   

 

2. Consideration of revisions & acceptance of Chapter 3 – 2005 Transportation Plan 

M. Indyke questioned the Commission’s thoughts on asking the City to consider an 

ordinance regarding snow removal on sidewalks.  He stated that he knows there are legal 

ramifications but noted that most communities do have an ordinance.  He reported that 

there have been some fatalities this past winter from people slipping on the ice.  The group 

felt a line should be added regarding the consideration of a snow removal ordinance for 

sidewalks. 

 

C. Wenzel advised that she agrees with everything and thinks Chapter 3 is good.  S. 

Hudson referenced the special requirements for the downtown area and advised that the 

Mayor talked about the Commission possibly recommending other areas or nodes that 

should receive similar attention or ‘special treatment’. 

 

M. Indyke stated that the problem he sees with other areas (away from the downtown) is 

that they would be out of the TIF district and out of the area that the City could get grants 

for improvements.  He stated that outside this area would mean the City would be bearing 



Transportation Commission 

1/15/14 
Page 3 of 6 

 

the costs or trying to get the landowners or developers to bear the costs.  He stated that 

schools, parks, and shopping areas are addressed in the plan.  S. Hudson stated that she 

believes the Mayor is referring to finding other areas i.e. Wisted’s or the Jewel grocery 

stores.  She stated that the Mayor asked the Commission to define whether there is a need 

for other special areas that would be treated more like the Square and to define those areas.   

She believes that this request from the Mayor would be appropriate to include in the plan. 

 

C. Wenzel questioned when Rt. 47 is widened if there should there be a policy in place 

where the City requests that IDOT puts in the pedestrian access.   She questioned if it 

should be included in the plan. A. Celentano stated that CAG did talk about putting 

sidewalks up and down Rt. 47.  C. Wenzel stated that she wants to make sure that it 

happens and questioned if there is a need to write a request or an ordinance.  

 

J. Osborn stated that it would be more direct if the City wrote to IDOT about the project 

itself.  He advised that IDOT would provide the City different opportunities during the 

project development as part of the advisory committee or stakeholder group.  He advised 

that the City could probably write a letter at any time directed to IDOT regarding the 

project. He stated that it would then be a formal request and he noted that once the 

engineers receive it they will have to answer it somehow.  S. Hudson stated that 

everything she saw at the meetings included sidewalks.  J. Osborn stating that putting it on 

Woodstock letterhead and sending it to the district engineer is a way to work the 

bureaucracy a little bit more.  

 

M. Indyke questioned if sidewalk improvements in a four block radius can be done for 

retail establishments as well as schools.  S. Hudson stated that is part of what the 

Commission needs to define.  She advised that the Mayor specifically asked the 

Commission to define other zones; not something around a single institution. She noted 

that it needs to be done to finish off the sidewalk project but advised that they can include 

in the plan that there is a goal to identify additional areas especially commercial areas or 

bounded areas that will be maintained and supervised more aggressively.  She stated that it 

might be the definition of a corridor like getting from the Square to Jewel.  She advised 

that the identification of new areas/corridors that are subject to special requirements could 

be a checkpoint. 

 

3. Letter from IDOT Dated 12/18/2013 re: traffic signal flashing mode    

M. Indyke stated that it looks like it can’t be done.  A. Celentano stated that he felt some of 

the arguments were a little weak.  M. Indyke thinks it is strange that when making a left 

turn from Country Club onto Rt. 47 the light is always only green for two cars.   

 

NEW BUSINESS: 
1. Pedestrian Crossings – IL Rt. 47 

A. Celentano stated that this agenda item is in regards to people crossing Rt. 47 on foot and 

he noted that he thinks the biggest problem is Lake Ave. and Rt. 47.  M. Indyke affirmed 

and included Country Club and Rt. 47 and noted that both intersections need either walk 

signs or designated crossings.   

 

J. Osborn included that the right in and right out by Panera and Jewel is hard to see and the 

lanes merging by Jewel where people are trying to cross is a problem.  He stated that it is a 



Transportation Commission 

1/15/14 
Page 4 of 6 

 

high pedestrian volume area and he questioned how many people would be out there if the 

area was walk able.  He stated that crosswalks would be good everywhere along the route.   

 

S. Hudson questioned if would be easier to have the pedestrian crossing at a less 

complicated intersection like McConnell.  S. Hudson noted it is the expense of determining 

who is paying for it that is a problem too.  J. Osborn stated that when a person is on foot 

and its zero degrees, they aren’t going to 300 feet out of their way to cross and they are 

going to cross where and whenever they can.    

 

C. Wenzel stated that there is a need to build in connectivity between the areas that are 

desirable to cross.  She stated that if you come out from Bull Valley Ford there are 

sidewalks in front of Ralph’s and then the sidewalks are spotty all the way down until you 

get to Harding, but at Bull Valley Ford there is nothing and goes down into a ditch forcing 

people to walk in the street.  She stated that people cross Rt. 47 to go to Catalpa.  S. 

Hudson stated that Catalpa has great sidewalks on both sides.   C. Wenzel stated that they 

are crossing Rt. 47 to get to Catalpa.  S. Hudson advised that it makes more sense to have a 

pedestrian light that can only operate when a pedestrian is there. A. Celentano provided 

information on a pedestrian light on 34
th

 Street in New York, a pedestrian operated green 

light that is green all the time unless someone pushes the button.   

 

M. Indyke stated that there is a pedestrian light on Rt. 120 and Rt. 47 where you can push a 

button and then cross the street.  S. Hudson stated that it wouldn’t be a timed light; it would 

be green all the time.  J. Osborn stated that there would be the normal phasing for the light, 

but it gives the pedestrian a way to preempt the signal timings for the vehicles so they don’t 

have to wait the full cycle of the signals for all the traffic.  M. Indyke questioned if it stops 

the traffic in all directions and J. Van Landuyt advised that it will stop traffic opposing the 

direction that the pedestrian is traveling.   

 

J. Osborn stated that some of the pedestrian issues are related to continuing that access and 

noted that if we get ahead and provide additional pedestrian access from the neighborhoods 

around the corridor to the businesses then it should mitigate some of the access issues when 

the construction starts on Rt. 47. 

 

A. Celentano asked for an idea of what it would cost for that kind of light.  J. Osborn 

advised that if it is a whole new system on its own then it is basically the same cost as a 

signalization. J. Van Landuyt stated that a ballpark would be $300,000 - $500,000 and he 

noted that full signalization is about $800,000-$900,000. 

 

M. Indyke suggested a simpler solution with less cost like the temporary sign on Throop St. 

that sits by the crosswalk which makes people aware that they have to stop for pedestrians.   

 

The group discussed the Fairgrounds and how it impacts the area and pedestrian crossings.  

C. Wenzel stated that connectivity is important but it is hard to describe what it is.  She 

advised that there is a need for a policy that alleviates congestion and facilitates pedestrian 

and bicycle traffic. She stated that it needs to be emphasized because reducing congestion 

is the key to making an area desirable for either pedestrians or bicyclists.    

 

2. Commission Members Ideas – brief discussion  



Transportation Commission 

1/15/14 
Page 5 of 6 

 

S. Hudson stated that the City needs to work with the County to get pedestrian access from 

the PADS day site into the City of Woodstock.  She advised that numerous people 

complain to her about people being out in the road on Kishwaukee Valley Road.  She 

stated that there is a need to get people with no cars from the train station to the PADS site.  

J. Osborn noted that the water park, Emricson Park, Square, the library and PADS could be 

considered a corridor.  

 

C. Wenzel noted that the social security office is on the other end of town in the middle of 

nowhere. S. Hudson stated it is another issue with having to cross Rt. 14 to get to the social 

security office.  J. Van Landuyt stated that the City met with IDOT and he advised the 

Commission that IDOT has agreed to include a light at Rt. 14 and Lake Shore Drive when 

they construct planned improvements to US Rt. 14.     

 

S. Hudson stated that the PADS site is the County office and noted that every day people 

go back to the office for the daytime and then they get on a bus that takes them to different 

churches.  She advised that they are told that they need to go to the PADS office to get an 

ID.  J. Van Landuyt advised that it might be cheaper to move the location.  S. Hudson 

questioned why they would put it so far out of town and stated that they have it out of town 

but now the people are going to get hit going down the road.  She stated that they are going 

to walk unless there are fixed bus routes that run to and from the train station.  She 

emphasized the importance of getting them off the roads.   

 

J. Osborn stated that there are similar service institutions that find themselves located in 

remote areas around Woodstock.  He noted that it is something to think about from a 

pedestrian access standpoint.  He stated that it is frustrating from a transportation 

standpoint because the services that people are trying to access are all over the place. A. 

Celentano stated that the “not in my backyard” is a real issue. 

 

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Continued Review of Transportation Plan – February 2014 Meeting 

2. Discussion on Frontage Roads along IL Rt. 47 Corridor – February 2014 Meeting.   

The group talked about a possible future discussion regarding access plans for businesses 

during construction on Rt. 47. A. Celentano removed the item and made it his 

responsibility. 

3. Prioritizing Sidewalks – March 2014 Meeting 

4. Bike Rental Plan – Discussion & Recommendation - March 2014 Meeting 

5. Access to and from the PADS office 

6. Access to and from the Social Security office 

7. Performance measures regarding bike/ped programs being employed by communities 

around Woodstock 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

Motion by M. Indyke, second by C. Wenzel to adjourn the regular meeting of the Woodstock 

Transportation Commission to the special meeting February 19, 2014 @ 7:00 PM.  Ayes: 

Chairman A. Celentano, S. Hudson, C. Wenzel, M. Indyke. Nays: None. Absentees: None. 

Abstentions: None.  Motion carried. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 8:16 PM. 

 



Transportation Commission 

1/15/14 
Page 6 of 6 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

___________________________ 

Dianne Mitchell - City Clerk 



CITY OF WOODSTOCK 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

January 27, 2014 
City Council Chambers 

 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
The regular meeting of the Woodstock Historic Preservation Commission was called to order 
at 7:00 PM by Chairman Allen Stebbins on Monday, January 27, 2014 in Council Chambers at 
City Hall.  
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT:   Jodie Kurtz-Osborne, Rodney Paglialong, 
Chairman Allen Stebbins 
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT:  Erica Wilson 

 
 STAFF PRESENT:  City Planner Nancy Baker 
 
 OTHERS PRESENT: City Clerk Dianne Mitchell 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
Motion by R. Paglialong, second by J. Kurtz-Osborne to approve the November 25, 2013 
minutes of the Woodstock Historic Preservation Commission with the following changes:  

 
R. Paglialong: Eighth line down under APPROVAL OF MINUTES, Space missing between 
“Page” and “1”. 
 
R. Paglialong: The header date is wrong throughout the document. 
 
Ayes: Chairman Stebbins, R. Paglialong, J. Kurtz-Osborne. Nays: None. Absentees: E. Wilson. 
Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
 
Motion by R. Paglialong, second by J. Kurtz-Osborne to approve the December 9, 2013 
minutes as presented. Ayes: Chairman Stebbins, R. Paglialong, J. Kurtz-Osborne.  Nays: None. 
Absentees: E. Wilson. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
 
II. PUBLIC COMMENT 
No comments from the public. 
 
III. GENERAL BUSINESS 

A. Sign Variation:  101 N. Johnson Street—Public Hearing 
Motion by J. Kurtz-Osborner, second by R. Paglialong to open the Public Hearing at 
7:04 PM.  Ayes: Chairman Stebbins, R. Paglialong, J. Kurtz-Osborne. Nays: None. 
Absentees: E.  Wilson. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 
 A. Stebbins advised that the petitioner is the City of Woodstock with Nancy Baker as 
 the representative. He questioned the materials that will be used and how the signs will 
 be affixed to the building. N. Baker advised that the signs will be a heavy vinyl material 
 and they will have grommets. She stated that the sign maker will provide instructions 
 on how to anchor them but noted that typically they place nails into the mortar joints. 
  



Historic Preservation Commission 
1/27/14 

Page 2 of 6 
 

  
 A. Stebbins questioned if there will be any signs on the Throop Street side. N. Baker 
 advised that there is so much going on the back side with the construction and they 
 didn’t  think signs would be effective and would add to the clutter.  She advised that at 
 this point the City is just worried about the Johnson Street side. 
 
 A. Stebbins questioned when the signs will go up and N. Baker advised that it could 
 possibly go to City Council for approval next Tuesday, then it will take a week or so to 
 fabricate them and then Public Works will do the installation when it is warm enough 
 and the snow stops.  
 
 A. Stebbins stated that the variance is asking to have the signs displayed for 90 days. 
 N. Baker advised that there are three parts to the variation, one is the 90 days instead of 
 60 days, the other is to install three signs instead of two and the last one is the height.  
 She stated that they did look at doing something at ground level and combining the 
 lettering on two signs but she advised that they looked messy and they didn’t make a 
 statement for the building.  She stated that if there is going to be a tenant in the 
 restaurant space, having the signs at that height would be confusing.  She reported that 
 the more they looked at the vertical idea the more they liked it. She advised that to 
 accomplish it meant they had to make the www.woodstockcourthouse.org a separate 
 sign.  N. Baker advised that “landmark buildings, limitless potential” is the slogan the 
 City is using to promote the RFP.   
 
 R. Paglialong stated that he doesn’t like the idea but noted that he doesn’t have another 
 option.  He believes it is better than having a “For Sale” sign out in front. J. Kurtz- 
 Osborne agreed with R. Paglialong and advised that she tried doing some research but 
 she was unable to find anything.  She stated that she thought of having a banner on the 
 fence area like the ones used for the art shows but she wasn’t sure if it would look as 
 clean as signage in the entryway.  She questioned if there is much traffic from people 
 that would be interested.  She questioned if the signs would go up more towards the 
 summer months when there will be more traffic. 
 
  N. Baker stated that the signs will hopefully go up mid February.  A. Stebbins advised 
 that the deadline for the RFP’s is May 15, 2014.  N. Baker stated that the signs are not 
 just for the RFP but are also to get people to pay attention to what is going on.  She 
 advised that the RFP, the video, the history and information about the projects are all on 
 the web site.  She stated that hopefully the signs will fulfill an informational purpose as 
 well as help to promote the RFP.   
 
 J. Kurtz-Osborne questioned if they would consider canvas over vinyl since it holds up 
 better and looks a little nicer, but then stated that they will only be up for 90 days not 
 ten years.  N. Baker advised that she has been talking with Hartman Signs who 
 suggested using a heavier grade vinyl that should be plenty durable for that length of 
 time.  She stated that she can talk to him about the canvas option.  J. Kurtz-Osborne 
 stated that for 90 days she can understand why the City wouldn’t want to make an 
 investment.  A. Stebbins advised that canvas would possibly have to be a silk screen 
 process which could drive the cost up.   



Historic Preservation Commission 
1/27/14 

Page 3 of 6 
 

 J. Kurtz-Osborne questioned if they considered doing black and white lettering or if the 
 maroon was used to blend with the brick.  N. Baker stated that they wanted the signs to 
 look different than a typical promotional banner and noted that they thought the maroon 
 would be a little more upscale and conservative looking. 
 
 J. Kurtz-Osborne stated that the signs are not only for people interested in possibly 
 purchasing the building but for the community to know what is going on. R. Paglialong 
 stated that he thinks having that awareness is important.  He stated that he doesn’t know 
 what else can be done and J. Kurtz-Osborne noted that there weren’t many options.  
 
 A. Stebbins stated that he understands their concerns and he agrees, but advised that he 
 looks at it as a request for temporary signage and as long as there is a limit of no more 
 than 90 days; putting it somewhere around May 1st which is before activity starts 
 picking up on the Square.  He stated that this is the best solution to a troubling problem 
 that the City has.  He thinks that putting up a “For Sale” sign on the lawn somewhere 
 which would be at least a 4’ x 4’ sign is kind of tacky.  He stated that he thinks the 
 banner across the fence would be confusing.  He thinks this is the best solution for a 
 very temporary type of installation.  
 
 R. Paglialong stated that he doesn’t mean to discredit the process N. Baker went 
 through to think of the signs, but noted that his first reaction was that he didn’t like it.  
 He agreed that it is temporary and he doesn’t want to impede the promotion of the 
 building.  J. Kurtz- Osborne stated that it also is community knowledge and she agrees 
 with the fact that they are temporary.  A. Stebbins questioned if the Commission could 
 request a condition that the banners come down by the due date of the RFP’s.  N. Baker 
 stated that it would be a reasonable time frame.   
 
 A. Stebbins stated that the report indicated the surrounding businesses that received a 
 certificate of direct notification and noted that no one was in attendance at the meeting 
 to speak during the public portion. 
 
 Motion by R. Paglialong, second J. Kurtz-Osborne to close the public hearing at 7:19 
 P.M. Ayes: Chairman Stebbins, R. Paglialong, J. Kurtz-Osborne. Nays: None. 
 Absentees: E. Wilson. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
 
 Motion by J. Kurtz-Osborne, second by R. Paglialong to approve the sign variance 
 request for the temporary banners at 101 N. Johnson Street to be displayed for a total 
 of 90 days or until the RFP deadline; whichever occurs first. Ayes: Chairman 
 Stebbins, R. Paglialong, J. Kurtz-Osborne. Nays: None. Absentees: E. Wilson. 
 Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
    

B. Discussion of participation in Woodstock Celebrates Orson Welles 
commemoration events and/or Historic Preservation Month 
A. Stebbins reported that he spoke with Kathy Spaltro about the potential for the 
Commission to be involved in the event.  He stated that he suggested to her that since 
the event is taking place in May, which is Historic Preservation Month nationally, that 
perhaps the Commission might entertain the idea of doing a historic walking tour for 
one day of the event.  He advised that it would be around the Square and could be based 



Historic Preservation Commission 
1/27/14 

Page 4 of 6 
 

off of the historic walking tour brochure and pepper in some facts about Orson Welles 
and other movie type related things that occurred in Woodstock.  He stated that he also 
mentioned to N. Baker that the Commission has not done recognitions for people that 
have done preservation projects in the district and noted that he believes this may be an 
appropriate time to ask the Council if they can be recognized sometime during May. 
 
Kathleen Spaltro, 143 Lawrence Ave, Woodstock stated that about nine years ago she 
became interested in the subject of the relationship of Woodstock to the life and career 
of Orson Welles.  She provided background information on a book she read about 
Welles and stated that she tried to organize a festival recognizing Welles’ relationship 
to Woodstock and the Todd School as well as Roger Hill. She stated that she got 
sidetracked by the fight to save Grace Hall which was the building on the Todd campus 
where Welles had lived.  She stated that she went back to her original idea of the 
festival and then managed to form Woodstock Celebrates, which has been incorporated 
as an IL non-profit for about a year and a half. 
 
K. Spaltro reported that they have been planning an event for May 16th and 17th of 2014 
because in 1934 Welles returned to Woodstock and created a theatrical festival at the 
Opera House and she thought that they could commemorate the 80th anniversary in 
2014.  She referenced the handout about the event and reviewed the events that will 
take place on Friday and Saturday.  She reviewed the concurrent events that will take 
place during the event including book signings, photographic exhibits, a pub crawl and 
the possible historic walking tours offered by HPC. 
 
K. Spaltro offered a resource to the group, Patrick McGilligan in Milwaukee.  She 
stated that she asked him if they wanted to do anything in Woodstock where would the 
sites be and he offered himself as a resource for places associated with Orson Welles.  
She stated that she believes it will delightful for anything the HPC is willing to offer if 
they have the time to do it. 
 
A. Stebbins asked the Commission if it something that they would be interested in 
doing.  J. Kurtz-Osborne stated that she doesn’t really have the knowledge and noted 
that it depends on how she would participate.  A. Stebbins stated that the Commission 
could develop a script that everyone could familiarize themselves with.  He stated that 
depending on the size of the groups they can possibly meet at 1:00 p.m. on Saturday 
and split up into smaller groups and go in different directions on the Square. 
 
A. Stebbins advised that this could be something that the Commission could offer doing 
Historic Preservation Month and noted that they might get community members 
coming that want to know more about Woodstock.  He stated that he sees it being 
mostly about the downtown area.  He feels that it could be an opportunity to inform 
people about the Courthouse.  He advised that if the Commission decides to do it then 
he would want to have a date and time in mind so that when the Joint Council meets 
again it can be put on their calendar.  In response to R. Paglialong’s question, A. 
Stebbins stated that ideally they will have so many people that the four of them would 
have to split up and take groups around the Square. 
 



Historic Preservation Commission 
1/27/14 

Page 5 of 6 
 

R. Paglialong stated that the Commission will need to meet to develop the script and a 
game plan.  A. Stebbins stated that he doesn’t think it is as hard to do as one might 
think and referenced the Main Street Initiative when the HPC was asked to give some 
tours.  He advised that they can pull highlights out of the walking tour brochure.  He 
noted that if there is only a half dozen people then the members will all go together.   
 
N. Baker stated that she could work off of the walking tour brochure and pull some late 
20’s/early 30’s building information to tie it to the time period that Woodstock 
Celebrates is focusing on.  A. Stebbins affirmed but stated that he doesn’t want to limit 
it just to that time period. 
 

 Motion by R. Paglialong, second J. Kurtz-Osborne by to conduct a historic walking 
 tour the weekend of the Orson Welles festival.  The script and tour date and time 
 will be determined at a later date.  Ayes: Chairman Stebbins, R. Paglialong, J. Kurtz-
 Osborne.  Nays: None. Absentees: E. Wilson. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 
A. Stebbins asked the Commission to consider doing historic preservation project 
recognitions at the City Council meeting sometime in May.  He suggested recognizing 
the Opera House for the doors, Michael Stanard, Willis Johnson, Jim Prindiville, the 
Dean Street house next to the bed and breakfast, Kevin Eldridge and the appliance 
place building.  He advised that the group can review a list next month. 
 

 Motion by R. Paglialong, second by J. Kurtz-Osborne to ask the City Council to 
 recognize completed historical preservation projects at one of the City Council 
 meetings in May. Ayes: Chairman Stebbins, R. Paglialong, J. Kurtz-Osborne.  
 Nays: None. Absentees: E. Wilson. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 

 
C. Updates 

N. Baker reported that the Old Courthouse RFP went out and noted that she has been 
mailing out flyers.  She stated that she has a listing on the Landmarks Illinois web site 
and an advertisement on the National Trust real estate listings. She advised that the 
video is up on the web site and noted that she has heard some good things about it.  R. 
Paglialong asked if there has been any traffic and N. Baker advised that she has had 
three inquiries.   
 
In response to R. Paglialong’s question regarding a pipe that burst, N. Baker advised 
that pipes burst in the women’s bathroom noting that because of the windows they can’t 
keep it heated up there.  She reported that the water is off to the upstairs and advised 
that it did a little damage in the art gallery.  She stated that Donovan is looking at some 
other heating options to get more heat in the building.   
 
R. Paglialong asked if the restaurant is leased and N. Baker stated that it is not but a 
lease should go to City Council in February.   
 
A. Stebbins advised that he had three Council members advise him that they are 
reviewing potential display signage for in front of the Opera House and then asked him 
if HPC has seen it yet.  N. Baker stated that she will follow up with Roscoe Stelford. 
 



Historic Preservation Commission 
1/27/14 

Page 6 of 6 
 

D. Continue review of historic district contributing and non-contributing buildings 
starting with site 214 
The Commission tabled this item to the next scheduled meeting. 
 

V. ADJOURNMENT: 
Motion by R. Paglialong, second by J. Kurtz-Osborne to adjourn to the next regular meeting of 
the Woodstock Historic Preservation Commission. Ayes: Chairman Stebbins, R. Paglialong, J. 
Kurtz-Osborne.  Nays: None. Absentees: E. Wilson. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:56 PM. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
___________________________ 
Dianne Mitchell – City Clerk 



 

 

       City of    

               
 

Offi ce  of  the May or                                                            815 .338 .4302  

Dr .  Br ian  Sager ,  Mayo r                                                            815 .334 .2269  

121  W.  Calhoun  St reet                                                                              mayo r@woods tocki l . go v  

Woodsto ck,  I l l ino is  60098                                                                            www.woodsto cki l . go v  

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
for 

Woodstock City Council Meeting 

March 4
th

, 2014 
 

 

TO:        Woodstock City Council 

 

FROM:   Mayor Brian Sager 

 

RE:        Nomination for Appointment to the Economic Development Commission 

 

 

Colleagues: 

 

By way of this communication, I am nominating Ryan O’Connor, Other World Computing to fill the 

vacancy on the Economic Development Commission for a three-year term to 2017.   

 

 

Respectfully, 

 

Brian Sager 

 

Brian Sager, Ph.D. 

Mayor 

 

 

 

http://www.woodstock-il.com/
mamraen
Typewritten Text

mamraen
Typewritten Text
March 4, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 19a



       City of    

               
 

City Manager’s Off ice                                                121  W.  Calhoun  St reet   

Terry Wil lcockson                                           Woodstock,  I l l ino is  60098  

Grant  Wri ter                                                                                            815/338-4300  ext .  11128                               

                                                                                                                       fax 815/33 4-2269  

                                                                                                       gran twri ter@woodstocki l .gov       

                                                                                                                 www.woodstocki l .gov  

Memo 

To: Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

From: Terry Willcockson, Grant Writer 

Date: February 20, 2014 

Re: Approval of a Resolution for ComEd Green Region Grant Request for  

Ryder’s Woods Final Stage Habitat Restoration Project 

 

The City of Woodstock Public Works Department enjoys a strongly-supportive relationship with 

The Land Conservancy of McHenry County, a local group of conservation professionals and 

volunteers who offer assistance with habitat restoration efforts in many of the City’s passive 

parks and natural areas.  Since 2006, the City has benefitted from this group’s ongoing work at 

the very popular Ryder’s Woods nature area on the southeast side of Woodstock. 

 

With The Land Conservancy’s help, Ryder’s Woods has recently undergone a significant 

renaissance.  Invasive species of Buckthorn, Honeysuckle and Box Elder scrub trees have been 

removed, and many trails have been improved and reopened.  Oak trees are regenerating and 

wildflowers are appearing in the park once more.  This more open natural area is not only further 

conservation friendly and aesthetically pleasing, but it is also a much safer environment for 

residents.  

 

The final stage in this lengthy project involves the removal of broken concrete that was dumped 

in the park’s northern perimeter area long ago.  Once recovered, this material will be sent to a pit 

and crushed into a material known as recycled grade 9.  Clearing this unattractive and liability-

prone area will not only finalize the many years of work in this park, it will also allow reopening 

the park’s northernmost entryway, thereby encouraging additional usage by children and adults 

from the adjacent Dick Tracy Way Park play area.  The City’s Grant Writer has been invited by 

another funding organization to submit a full proposal in support of expanded public attractions 

in Dick Tracy Way Park, for a combined positive public benefit in this area of the community. 

 

Funds are being requested from ComEd’s Green Region program, which is administered by 

Openlands, a non-profit conservation trust with a 50-year history of protecting open space in the 

greater Chicago region. The requested $10,000 funds will cover excavation and removal of the 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
March 4, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 19b



unsightly and environmentally-unsound concrete pieces that have been dumped and spread out 

over the surface of an area of roughly 50,000 square feet.  In order to accommodate this removal, 

several large trash trees will need to be removed, and later replaced with more desirable oaks.  

There will be a need for clean backfill and leveling of the remediated area, and funds will be 

further used for signage and additional natural plantings as appropriate. 

 

This grant program does require a match from the applicant organization, amounting to 50% of 

the project budget; in this case $10,000 will be budgeted by the City in FY14/15 to ensure the 

success of the project and the realization of an invigorated and beautifully restored Ryder’s 

Woods.  Following notification of award in June, and required bidding and scheduling, this 

project would commence in the fall of 2014 with preparation work in the winter and restoration 

activities in the spring of 2015.  

 

If Council is supportive of this project as outlined above and the required ComEd Green 

Region application, approval is requested for the attached resolution, identified as 

Document No. ______, A Resolution Authorizing Application to the 2014 ComEd Green 

Region Program for the Ryder’s Woods Final Stage Habitat Restoration Project 

 
 

 

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
1



RESOLUTION NO. 14-R-_____ 

 

CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

MC HENRY COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 

A Resolution Authorizing Application to the  

2014 ComEd Green Region Program  

for the Ryder’s Woods Final Stage Habitat Restoration Project 

 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Woodstock (“Applicant”) desires to undertake the Ryder’s 

Woods Final Stage Habitat Restoration project; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Applicant desires to apply to the ComEd Green Region Program for a 

grant for the purpose of carrying out this project; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has received and understands the 2014 ComEd Green Region 

Program Guidelines. 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Woodstock City Council hereby 

approves this project and authorizes application to the ComEd Green Region Program in 

the amount of $10,000; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT the Applicant commits to the expenditure of 

matching funds in the amount of $10,000, necessary for the project’s success. 

 

Passed and approved this 4
th
 day of March, 2014. 

Ayes: 

Nays: 

Abstentions: 

Absentees: 

 

(SEAL)    APPROVED: 

     ______________________________ 

     Mayor Brian Sager, Ph.D. 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 

City Clerk Dianne Mitchell 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
Doc.1



 

 

       City of    

               
 

Offi ce  of  the May or                                                            815 .338 .4302  

Dr .  Br ian  Sager ,  Mayo r                                                            815 .334 .2269  

121  W.  Calhoun  St reet                                                                              mayo r@woods tocki l . go v  

Woodsto ck,  I l l ino is  60098                                                                            www.woodsto cki l . go v  

 
DATE:  February 24, 2014 

 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 

  Roscoe C. Stelford III, City Manager 

   

FROM: Cindy Smiley, Executive Assistant 

 

RE:  Liquor Code Amendment –  

BYOB Non-Restaurant Permit 

 

 

As Council will recall, in 2012, two classifications of BYOB permits were created to allow 

patrons of restaurants in possession of these permits to bring in their own beer or wine.  Since 

that time, the City has been approached by a local business which provides event space to a 

variety of entities, both for-profit businesses and not-for-profit entities.  The business owner does 

not wish to obtain a liquor license, which would require the business to purchase and maintain an 

inventory of alcohol on-hand and also to provide wait staff to serve the alcohol, but rather wishes 

to provide the opportunity for clients to rent the business for an event that will include the 

consumption of alcohol.  Consequently, the attached ordinance would amend the City Code to 

provide a third classification of BYOB Permit, a BYOB Non-Restaurant Permit. 

 

Unlike the other two BYOB permit classifications, this new classification would not be 

incidental to the service of food.  As is the case with the other two classifications, however, this 

permit would contain the following provisions: 

 

1) It would allow customers to bring beer or wine into the premises for personal 

consumption during an event. 

2) Applicants must provide a certificate of insurance reflecting general liability 

insurance, naming the City of Woodstock as Certificate Holder and additional 

insured. 

3) Applicants must agree in writing to save and hold harmless the City of Woodstock 

from any and all claims arising out of consumption of alcoholic liquor on the 

premises. 

4) Applicants must provide a certificate of insurance reflecting liquor liability coverage 

naming the City of Woodstock as Certificate Holder.  

5) Permit Holders must agree to abide by the City of Woodstock Liquor Code, including 

the prohibition of allowing minors to consume and observance of the same hours of 

consumption. 

6) Permit Holders may provide glasses, ice, and other amenities for consumption on 

premise. 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
March 4, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 19c



 

 

 

This new classification of permit would not: 

 

1) Allow the permit holder or staff to open, pour, or serve the alcohol. 

2) Allow the patron to remove an open bottle of wine or beer from the premises. 

3) Allow the permit holder to store any inventory of alcohol on premise. 

 

If Council is supportive of this request, approval is recommended of the attached 

Ordinance, identified as Document No. ______, An Ordinance Amending Title 3, Chapter 3, 

Liquor Control, of the Woodstock City Code, creating a third classification of BYOB Permit, 

the BYOB Non-Restaurant Permit. 
 

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
2



  

 

 

Liquor Control Amendments, Page 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 14-O-_________ 

 

An Ordinance Amending Title 3,  

Chapter 3, Liquor Control, of the Woodstock City Code 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the CITY COUNCIL of the CITY OF WOODSTOCK, McHenry 

County, Illinois, as follows: 

 

SECTION ONE: That Section 3.3.21D Class Created shall hereby be 

amended to add: 

 

D. Classes Created: There are hereby created the following classes: 

1.  BYOB – Non- Restaurant – Permits customer to bring beer or wine into 

the permitted premises of a retail establishment to be consumed on 

premises only at a special event. 

 

The following terms and conditions shall apply to a BYOB-Non-

Restaurant Permit: 

 

a. The permit holder is permitted to provide glasses and other amenities 

for the consumption of beer and wine only on premises. 

 

b. No permit holder, nor any employee or staff member are permitted to 

open and pour the wine or beer. 

 

c. No storage of beer or wine is permitted. 

 

d. An opened bottle of wine or beer may not be removed from the 

premises but must be disposed of before the customer leaves the 

premises. 

 

e. In addition to general liability insurance, Licensee must provide a 

Certificate of Insurance naming the City of Woodstock certificate 

holder and additional insured in the amount of $250,000 per person 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
Doc.2



  

 

 

Liquor Control Amendments, Page 2 

and $500,000 per occurrence for bodily injury liability; $50,000 for 

loss of means of support; $50,000 for property damage liability, or 

 

A $500,000 single limit dramshop policy. 

 

   g.   The annual fee for a BYOB-Non-Restaurant Permit is $200. 

 

SECTION TWO: That Section 3.3.21E Numbers and Fees shall hereby be amended 

as follows: 

 

Permit Classification Number 

Available 

Annual  

Fee 

BYOB Corkage 0 $400.00 

BYOB 0 $200.00 

BYOB-Non-restaurant 0 $200.00 

 

 

SECTION THREE: If any section, paragraph, subdivision, clause, sentence or provision 

of this Ordinance shall be adjudged by any Court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such 

judgment shall not affect, impair, invalidate or nullify the remainder thereof, which remainder 

shall remain and continue in full force and effect. 

 

 SECTION FOUR: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

 

 SECTION FIVE: This Ordinance shall be known as Ordinance     and 

shall be in full force and effect upon its passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form 

(which publication is hereby authorized) as provided by law. 

 

Ayes: 

Nays: 

Abstentions: 

Absentees: 

 APPROVED: 

 

 

      

 Mayor Brian Sager, Ph.D. 

(SEAL) 

ATTEST:      

Dianne Mitchell, City Clerk 

 

Passed:      

Approved:      

Published:      



  

 

 

Liquor Control Amendments, Page 3 

 

 

 

C E R T I F I C A T I O N 
 

 I, DIANNE MITCHELL, do hereby certify that I am the duly appointed, acting and 

qualified Clerk of the City of Woodstock, McHenry County, Illinois, and that as such Clerk, I am 

the keeper of the records and minutes and proceedings of the Mayor and Council members of 

said City. 

 

 I do hereby further certify that at a regular meeting of the Woodstock City Council, held 

on the    day of     , 2014, the foregoing Ordinance entitled An 

Ordinance Amending Title 3, Chapter 3, Liquor Control, of the Woodstock City Code, was 

duly passed by said City Council. 

 

 The pamphlet form of Ordinance No. 14-O-____, including the Ordinance and a cover 

sheet thereof, was prepared, and a copy of such Ordinance was posted in the City Hall, 

commencing on the   day of      , 2014, and continuing for at 

least 10 days thereafter.  Copies of such Ordinance were also available for public inspection 

upon request in the office of the City Clerk. 

 

 I do further certify that the original, of which the attached is a true and correct copy, is 

entrusted to me as the Clerk of said City for safekeeping, and that I am the lawful custodian and 

keeper of the same. 

 

 GIVEN under my hand and corporate seal of the City of Woodstock this    day of 

    , 2014. 

 

 

     

Dianne Mitchell, City Clerk 

City of Woodstock, 

McHenry County, Illinois 

(SEAL) 

 

 

 

 

 



 

       City of    

               
Department of  Communi ty  and Economic Devel opment                                   phone  815 .338 .4305  
121  W. Calhoun St r ee t                                                        f ax  815 .334 .2267  
Woods tock ,  I l l ino i s  60098                                                                          nbake r@wood stock i l .gov  
                                                        www.woodstock i l .gov  

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
  
February 12, 2014 

TO:  Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

FROM:  Nancy Baker, City Planner 

 

ZONING VARATION AT 1040 LAKE AVENUE 

Niko Kanakaris, operator of the Red Mill Tavern business, and Paul Glenn, architect, will appear 

before the City Council seeking approval of a variation of Section 7A.3.C Bulk and Area 

requirements, of the Woodstock Unified Development Ordinance, to allow the construction of 

two building additions to extend up to 5 feet into the 10 ft. side yard building setback.  One of 

the proposed additions would provide expanded lobby and restroom space.  The second proposed 

addition would allow for increased seating. 

The Zoning Board of Appeals conducted a public hearing on the proposed variations on February 

10, 2014.  There were no objectors present.  Testimony at the hearing emphasized that the 

additions will improve handicapped accessibility.  It was noted that currently there are only two 

single stall restrooms for the entire restaurant.  The variation of the side yard setback will have 

less impact on accessible parking than if the addition was located completely outside the side 

yard building setback. 

 

The petitioner presented revised building elevations at the hearing.  The revised elevations are 

attached to this memorandum. 

 

Additional parking is not required for these additions when including the parking spaces in the 

adjoining gravel parking lot that was approved by variation in August of 2012.  This variation 

required that the parking area being surfaced within 36 months of approval of the variation.   

 

After the conclusion of the hearing and the completion of a findings of fact, a motion to 

recommend approval of the zoning variation passed (vote of 4 yes; 0 no; 2 absent). 

 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
March 4, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 19d



 

A copy of the applicant’s petition and exhibits, along with a copy of the Community 

Development Report prepared for this request is attached.  A copy of the minutes from the 

Zoning Board of Appeals meeting is also attached. 

 

Based on the action of the Zoning Board of Appeals and the evidence presented during the 

public hearing, it is recommended that the City Council approve Document Number 

_______________, consisting of an Ordinance varying Section 7A.3.C Bulk and Area 

Standards, of the Unified Development Ordinance to allow the construction of two building 

additions to extend up to 5 feet into the required side yard setback as shown on Exhibit 1. 

 

rstelford
Approved

mamraen
Typewritten Text
3



 

 





















   WOODSTOCK ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REPORT: ZBA-02-01-14 

February 10, 2014 
 
 
PROJECT NAME: 1040 Lake Avenue 
  
 

GENERAL BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
  
 
Owner: R.M Properties 
  1040 Lake Ave. 
  Woodstock, IL 60098 
 
Applicant: Niko Kanakaris 
  Red Mill Tavern 
  1040 Lake Ave. 
  Woodstock, IL 60098 
        
REQUEST:  This appeal is requested from provisions of the Woodstock Unified Development   
Ordinance, Section 7A.3.C, Bulk and Area Requirements to allow the construction of two additions 
which will extend up to five feet into the side yard setback. 
  
EXISTING ZONING AND LAND USE OF SUBJECT PARCEL:  The property in question is 
zoned B3 Service and Retail and is used as a restaurant.  A “Zoning and Location Map” is attached.   
 
ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USE:  The property is surrounded by  B-3 Service and Retail 
and M-1 Light Manufacturing zoning. 
 
ANALYSIS:   The property in question contains a restaurant with outdoor seating. If granted, the 
variation will allow the applicant to construct a lobby/waiting area and new restroom facilities in 
front of the existing building and to extend the dining room.  
 
Additional parking is not required for these additions which will only minimally increase the seating 
capacity of the restaurant. Parking for the restaurant is provided on-site and on adjacent properties 
including the parking lot at 1060 Lake Avenue that received a variation in 2012 to remain gravel for 
up to 36 months.    
 
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE GUIDANCE:  Section 4.5.7 states that zoning 
variations may be approved after a finding that the following approval criteria have been addressed.   
 
A. The extent to which particular physical surroundings, shape, or topography of the subject 

property results in practical difficulty or hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a 
mere inconvenience if the strict letter of the zoning regulations are carried out. 

 
 



B. The extent that the alleged difficulty or hardship is caused by the application of these zoning 
regulations and has not been created by any person having an interest in the property. 

 
C. The extent to which conditions upon which the zoning variation request is based are unique 

to the subject property and would not be applicable to other property within the same zoning 
classification. 

 
D. Whether the variation is based exclusively on a desire to increase the value of the property, 

the monetary gain to be realized from the property, or the ability to alleviate financial 
difficulty experienced by the petitioner when attempting to comply with the City’s zoning 
regulations.  

 
E. The detrimental impact, if any, to the public welfare, to other property, or to improvements in 

the immediate neighborhood which may result if the zoning variation is granted. 
 
F. Whether or not the proposed zoning variation will impair the adequate supply of light and air 

to adjacent property, or substantially increase congestion in public streets, or endanger the 
public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values in the neighborhood; and  

 
G. That the zoning variation will not confer on the applicant any special privilege that is denied 

by these regulations to other lands, structures or buildings of the same zoning classification. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: If the Zoning Board of Appeals agrees that the criteria are met, a 
motion should be made recommending variations of Section 7A.3.C, Bulk and Area Requirements,  
of  the  Woodstock  Unified Development Ordinance to allow construction of two additions to 
extend up to five feet into the required side yard setback as depicted on the applicant’s site plan. 
 
 



 
 
 

1040 LAKE AVENUE – ZONING AND LOCATION MAP 
 

   
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Subject site 
 



2012 AERIAL MAP   
 

   

Subject site 
 



MINUTES 
CITY OF WOODSTOCK 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
February 10, 2014 

City Council Chambers 
 
The regular meeting of the City of Woodstock Zoning Board of Appeals was called to order at 
7:00 PM by Chairman John Schuh on Monday, February 10, 2014 in the Council Chambers of 
Woodstock City Hall, 121 West Calhoun Street, Woodstock.  A roll call was taken. 
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT: Chairman John Schuh, Lawrence Winters, Patrick 
Shea, Timothy Huffar 
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT:  Howard Rigsby, Thomas Tierney 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  City Planner Nancy Baker  
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  City Clerk Dianne Mitchell 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   
Motion by P. Shea, second by L. Winters to approve the Minutes of the December 9, 2013 
Woodstock Zoning Board of Appeals meeting as presented. Ayes: P. Shea, Chairman Schuh, L. 
Winters, T. Huffar. Nays: None. Absentees: H. Rigsby, T. Tierney. Abstentions: None. Motion 
carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
Chairman Schuh opened the Public Hearing at 7:02 PM. 
 
A. 1040 Lake Ave—Variation to construct two building additions that extend five feet into side 
yard building setback. 
 
Chairman Schuh swore in Paul Glenn, PSTM Architecture and Niko Kanakaris, Operator of Red 
Mill. 
 
Chairman Schuh stated that the Board had approved the temporary parking lot with lighting but 
no paving about six months ago and he then questioned how the other parking lot addition was 
approved.  N. Baker advised that it was done as a permit because it wasn’t required parking. 
 
P. Glenn stated that the proposal is for two additions, one to the front of the building and one to 
the right of the building if you are facing Red Mill.  He reported that there currently is a 10 foot 
setback and they would like a variation of 5 feet on the setback.  He stated that the existing 
building has been there for quite awhile and they would like to bring it up to handicap 
accessibility standards.  He stated that there is a ramp to the front entrance but the bathrooms 
aren’t handicap accessible.  He advised that the front addition is to bring the building up to 
compliance and will include handicap accessible bathrooms and a larger waiting area.  He stated 
that the side addition is an additional dining area.  He advised that the handicap parking would be 
up front.   
 
Chairman Schuh questioned if parking will be affected and P. Glenn advised that they will lose 
four stalls but noted that they exceed the parking requirements. 



Woodstock Zoning Board of Appeals 
2/10/14 

 Page 2 of 2 

 
Chairman Schuh stated for the record that no one was in attendance at the meeting to make any 
comments or refute the petition. 
 
P. Glenn reviewed an interior diagram of the additions with the Board.  He stated that they would 
like to blend the additions in with the existing building that is there.   
 
Chairman Schuh questioned if the adjacent property is owned by the same person.  P. Glenn 
advised that it is not. Chairman Schuh asked if proper notification was given and N. Baker 
affirmed and stated that the City did not hear anything back. 
 
N. Kanakaris advised that he has a lease on the property next door for the next ten years and 
noted that they now have a lot of extra parking.   
 
P. Shea questioned if they tried to stay out of the setback.  P. Glenn advised that they would end 
up taking more parking off of the front noting that they explored the option but found they would 
lose the handicap stalls in front.  He stated that their design gets the handicap stalls right up front. 
 
Motion T. Huffar, second P. Shea to close the Public Hearing at 7:11 PM. Ayes: P. Shea, 
Chairman Schuh, L. Winters, T. Huffar. Nays: None. Absentees: H. Rigsby, T. Tierney. 
Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
 
The Findings of Fact were completed by the Zoning Board of Appeals and are attached to these 
minutes. 
 
Motion by L. Winters, second by T. Huffar to approve the variations of Section 7A.3, Bulk and 
Area Requirements of the Unified Ordinance to allow construction of two additions to extend up 
to five feet into the required side yard setback as depicted on the applicant’s site plan. Ayes: P. 
Shea, Chairman Schuh, L. Winters, T. Huffar. Nays: None. Absentees: H. Rigsby, T. Tierney. 
Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
Motion by P Shea, second by T. Huffar to adjourn the February 10, 2014 Zoning Board of 
Appeals meeting at 7:15 PM. Ayes: P. Shea, Chairman Schuh, L. Winters, T. Huffar. Nays: 
None. Absentees: H. Rigsby, T. Tierney. Abstentions: None. Motion carried. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
_____________________________ 
Dianne Mitchell 
City Clerk 



Zoning Board of Appeals:  1040 Lake Avenue 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals shall complete the enclosed form, which will be included with the Findings 
of Fact Report submitted to the City Council. 
 
Request: Variation from the provisions of the Woodstock Unified Development Ordinance, Section 
7A.3.C, Bulk and Area Requirements, to construct two additions which extend up to 5 feet into the side 
yard setback. 

  
Section 7.3.5 states that the Board may determine and 
recommend to the City Council a variation of the 
regulations of Ordinance when it finds: 

 
Yes 
or  
No 

 
 

Comments 

 
1.  The particular surroundings, shape or topographical condition 
of the specific property involved would result in a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried 
out; 

 
 

Yes - all 

 
 

 
2.  The conditions upon which the petition for a variation are 
based are unique to the property for which the variation is sought 
and are not applicable, generally to the other property with the 
same zoning classification;  

 

Yes - all 

 
 

 
3.  The purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a 
desire to increase the monetary gain realized from the property or 
to alleviate financial difficulty experienced by the petitioner in the 
attempt to comply with the provisions of this Ordinance;  

 

Yes - all 

 
 

 
4.  The alleged difficulty or hardship is caused by the application 
of this Ordinance and has not been created by any person 
presently having an interest in the property;  

 

Yes - all 

 
 

 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the 
public welfare or injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhoods in which the property is located;  

 

Yes - all 

 
 

 
6.  That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply 
of light and air to adjacent property, or substantially increase the 
congestion in the public streets or increase the danger of fire, or 
endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or  impair 
property values with the adjacent neighborhood;  

 

Yes - all 

 
 

 
7.  That the granting of the variation requested will not confer on 
the applicant any special privilege that is denied by the Ordinance 
to other lands, structures or buildings of the same district. 

 

Yes - all 

 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 14-O-_____________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE VARYING PROVISIONS OF 

 THE WOODSTOCK UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE  

FOR PROPERTY AT 1040 LAKE AVE 

  

Be it ordained by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Woodstock, McHenry County, 

Illinois, as follows: 

 

Section One.   That, Section 7A.3.C, Bulk and Area Standards, of the Woodstock Unified 

Development Ordinance is varied to allow the construction of two additions including a chimney 

to extend up to 5 feet into the side yard building setback as shown on Exhibit 1 on property 

legally described as: 

  

Part of the West Half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 9, Township, 44 North, Range 

7 East of the Third Principal Meridian, lying on the Southwesterly side of the Highway 

(now known as U.S. 14) described as follows:   Commencing at the Point on Intersection 

of the South Line of said Section 9 with the Easterly line of the right-of-way of the State 

Highway (now known as Route 47) said point being 38.8 feet from the Southwest corner 

of said Section;  thence Northerly on the Easterly right-of-way line of said State Highway 

(being on a line forming an angle of 90 degrees, 15 minutes, with said highway line to the 

Northeast, to the South Line of said Section), for a distance of 719.93 feet to the point of 

curvature; thence Northeasterly on the Easterly right-of-way line of said highway being 

on a curved line to the right, having a radius of 3541.1 feet; for a distance of 421.57 feet; 

thence North  69 degrees, 40 minutes East, 267.5 to a point for a Place of Beginning; 

thence North 69 degrees, 40 minutes East, 267.85 feet to an intersection with the 

Southwesterly right of way line of said Highway, U.S. 14; thence Northwesterly along 

the Southwesterly right-of-way thereof, being on a curved line to the right, having a 

radius of 34407.5feet for a distance of 131.62 feet to a point of tangency; thence 

Northwesterly along the Southwesterly right of way line of said Highway, being on a line 

tangent  to the last described curve, a distance of 0.4 feet; thence South 69 degrees, 40 

minutes West, 204.95 feet; thence South 12 degrees, 51 minutes East, 125 feet to the 

Place of Beginning, in McHenry County, Illinois. 

 

 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
Doc.3



Section Two.  That the Zoning Board of Appeals on February 10, 2014 conducted a required 

public hearing on said variation and recommended to the City Council that it be approved. 

 

Section Three.  That this ordinance shall be known as Ordinance Number 14-O-_________ and 

shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval as provided by law. 

 

Section Four.  Any ordinances or parts thereof or any regulations in conflict with this ordinance 

are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

 

 

APPROVED AND PASSED by the City Council of the City of Woodstock, McHenry County, 

Illinois, this __________ day of ____________________, 2014. 

 

 

 

 

              

       ______________________________ 

                                          Mayor Brian Sager, Ph.D. 

Ayes: 

Nays: 

Abstentions: 

Absentees: 

 

Attest:         

 

 

________________________________    

City Clerk Dianne Mitchell     

 



 



 
Woodstock is proud to have been recognized as a 2007 Distinctive Destination  

by the National Trust for Historic Preservation 

 

       City of    

               
 

Department of  Publ ic  Works                                                  phone 815 .338 . 6118  

326  Washin gton  St reet                                                      fax 815 .334 .226 3  

Woodsto ck,  I l l ino is  60098                                                                 j van landu yt@wood stocki l .go v  

                                               www.woodsto cki l . gov  

 

To:  Roscoe Stelford  

 

From:  Jeff Van Landuyt  

 

Re:   Award of Contract for Improvements to the Hill Street Water   

Tower   
 

Date:  February 24, 2014 

 

The City’s water distribution system includes one ground storage reservoir and three elevated 

water towers which require cleaning and maintenance to protect the City’s initial investment, 

extend its useful life, and present a positive public image.   

 

The City completed the cleaning of the interior bowl section of the 0.5-million gallon Hill Street 

Water Tower in FY12/13 and took that opportunity to test paint samples and complete a general 

inspection of the tower.  This tower has served the Woodstock community for more than 50 

years.  Based upon the inspection and evaluation, the following work was recommended:   

 

 Replace the ground level deck,  

 Clean and recoat the second and third level decks, 

 Renovate the tank vent to bring it into EPA compliance,  

 Replace light fixture globes & bulbs,  

 Insulate and re-wrap the riser fill pipe, 

 Install a permanent check valve in the overflow outlet, 

 Clean and recoat rust spots in tank interior, 

 Clean the entire exterior tower surface and recoat exterior rust spots. 

 

The FY13/14 Utility CIP included $35,000 in line item #60-54-7-771 to complete improvements 

to the Hill Street Water Tower as determined by the FY12/13 inspection report.  In order to 

proceed with the recommended improvements, the Department of Public Works created bid 

specifications in order to receive competitive bids to complete the work.  On Friday, February 

21, 2014 the following bids were opened at 10:00 AM at the Department of Public Works 

facility and publicly read aloud: 

http://www.woodstockil.gov/
mamraen
Typewritten Text

mamraen
Typewritten Text
March 4, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 19e



     Lump Sum    Tool Prep, Priming, & Total Amount     

Bidder      Bid Price Paint based on 1000 sq ft         of Bid 

    

National Wash Authority,  $   8,300.00  $2,900.00  $    8,300.00  

 Morrison, IL       

exception:   Price does not include general improvements.  Exterior cleaning & spot  

  painting only. 

 

Water Tower Clean & Coat, Inc. $  17,000.00  $10/ square foot $  27,000.00 

 Lodi, WI 

exception:   None 

 

Maxcor, Inc.    $  89,300.00  $5/ square foot $  94,300.00 

New Lenox, IL      

exception:   Only includes exterior work and interior work on dry surface.  Tank will 

need to be removed from service. 

 

Am-Coat Painting, Inc.  $124,345.00  $5.20/ square foot $129,545.00  

 Homer Glen, IL      

exception:   Includes interior painting on dry surface only.  Tank will need to be 

removed from service. 

 

Pittsburg Tank & Tower Maint. $166,000.00  $15/ square foot $181,000.00 

 Henderson, KY  

exception:  None 

 

Muscat Painting & Decorating $180,504.00  $13/ square foot $193,504.00 

 East Dundee, IL 

exception:  None 

 

Bid specifications call for the work to be completed with the tank ‘in service’ and for all work to 

be completed before April 30, 2014.  In addition, the City received a per square foot price from 

each bidder to complete tool preparation, priming, and surface painting based upon an area of 

1,000 square feet.  In reviewing the bids, the lowest responsible bidder is Water Tower Clean & 

Coat, Inc., who submitted the lowest bid without exceptions.  National Wash Authority’s bid did 

not include any of the specified general improvement work, so it is an incomplete bid and should 

not be considered.     

 

Water Tower Clean & Coat, Inc., has been contracted by the City of Woodstock in the past to 

remove sediment and minerals from the City’s 1.5 million gallon ground storage tank, a reaction 

basin at the Seminary Avenue Treatment Plant, and the Hill Street Tower.  All work was 

completed with the aforementioned facilities remaining in service.  In addition, they completed 

spot repair and washing of the Hill Street Water Tower in FY07/08.  The City has been pleased 

with their work and supports a recommendation to award a contract for the work as specified in 

this project. 



 

Therefore, it is recommended that a contract be awarded to Water Tower Clean & Coat, 

Inc., to complete all work as described in accordance with the bid specifications for an 

amount not to exceed $27,000.  
 

 

 

c: All bidders 

 Will Smith                 

rstelford
Approved



       City of 

               
 
Pol i ce  Department  phone 815 .338 .6787  

Rober t  W.  Lo wen,  Chie f o f  Po l ice  fax 815 .334 .2275  

656  Lake Avenue  po l iced ept@wood stocki l .gov  

Woodsto ck,  I l l ino is  60098  www.woodsto cki l . go v  

  

  

 

 
Woodstock is proud to have been recognized as a 2007 Distinctive Destination  

by the National Trust for Historic Preservation 

To: Mr. Roscoe C. Stelford, City Manager 

From: Robert W. Lowen, Chief of Police 

Re: Approval of Purchase for Police Vehicles thru Northwest Municipal Conference 

Suburban Purchasing Cooperative  

Date: February 12, 2014 

 

On an annual basis the Police Department replaces a portion of the police vehicles utilized by the 

department.  The five-year alternating vehicle replacement system generally provides for three to 

five primary patrol vehicles to be replaced every year and police administration and police 

detective vehicles replaced as needed.  Patrol vehicles and administration and detective vehicles 

taken out of active service are further utilized by the department as secondary vehicles used for 

the community service officer or training or transferred to other City departments, if in a 

serviceable condition.  The City has experienced first-hand that the extended use of police 

vehicles has significantly increased maintenance costs, longer periods of down time and reduced 

officer safety.  

 

The vehicles proposed for purchase are available through a joint purchase cooperative through 

the Northwest Municipal Conference (NWMC).  The three proposed Ford Police Sedans are only 

available through the NWMC and are not available via the State of Illinois Joint Purchasing 

Program.  The proposed Ford Utility SUV is available via the State of Illinois Joint Purchasing 

Program although the total vehicle purchase will result in a savings of $64 utilizing the Suburban 

Purchasing Cooperative rather than the State of Illinois Joint Purchasing Program’s auto dealer. 

 

The Police Department also sought new vehicle prices from a local Ford Dealer, Bull Valley 

Ford.  Unfortunately, the quote from Bull Valley Ford was $2,964 higher than the NWMC 

Suburban Purchasing Cooperative. 

 

The decision of the Ford Motor Company to discontinue the preferred Ford Crown Victoria 

police vehicle has forced the Police Department to investigate an alternative patrol vehicle.  With 

input from Public Works vehicle maintenance personnel and an extensive study of neighboring 

police agency vehicle usage, the Ford Interceptor Police Sedan has been selected as the most 

practical patrol vehicle.  The Ford SUV will replace the 2002 Ford Van that is assigned to the 

DARE Program. 

 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
March 4, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 19f



 

The FY13/14 General Corporate CIP budget, line item # 82-03-7-701, includes $100,000 which 

was requested and approved to replace these vehicles.  The FY13/14 General Corporate CIP 

budget, line item #82-03-7-708, includes $11,000 which was requested and approved to perform 

the necessary equipment retrofit from the larger Crown Victoria police vehicles to the requested 

Ford Interceptor Police Sedans. 

 

It is recommended that the purchase of three replacement Ford Police Interceptor Sedans 

and one Ford Utility Interceptor Police SUV be approved through the Northwest 

Municipal Conference Suburban Purchasing Cooperative from Currie Motors, Frankfort, 

IL.  Once delivered, the necessary equipment will be installed into the new vehicles. The 

total price of the new vehicles and any necessary equipment will not exceed $111,000. 

 

If this vehicle replacement is approved, replaced vehicles will be used as secondary vehicles by 

the Police Department; offered to other City departments; or declared surplus and sold to the 

highest bidder at the next available surplus sale opportunity. The funds from the sale of those 

surplus vehicles will be returned to the General Fund as miscellaneous income.  

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Robert W. Lowen 

Chief of Police 

 

rstelford
Approved



 

Memo 
To: Roscoe Stelford, City Manager 

Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

From: Paul Christensen, Finance Director 

Date: February 24, 2014 

Re: Transmittal of the Third Quarter Financial Reports 

The Finance Department has completed the Third Quarter Revenues & Expenditures Report 

and the Third Quarter Investment Report.  Proper management of the City’s funds requires 

accurate, comprehensive and timely information.  With all of the demands placed on a 

Council Member’s time, summarized reports allow you to review the overall financial health 

of the City, while still being able to make determinations concerning individual fund 

performance.  Please feel free to request additional information or alternate types of 

presentations that would help the Council evaluate the City’s financial operations. 

The interim information contained in these reports is unaudited and will be subjected to 

GAAP adjustments at year-end.  It is not uncommon when reviewing quarterly information to 

experience more significant fluctuations than annual information.  Revenues and expenditures 

that usually are accounted for in the previous quarter may be delayed and paid/received in the 

subsequent quarter.  At year end, additional adjustments are performed by the Finance 

Department.  The required adjustments will modify the City’s financial information from its 

current cash basis to the required modified accrual basis and will be reviewed by the City’s 

audit firm. 

Revenues for all City funds totaled $24,379,140 at the end of the third quarter of FY13/14 

representing 90% of the budget amount.  Revenues benefited from the receipt of all property 

tax revenue for tax year 2012, except for delinquencies.  The City’s expenditures of 

$21,745,648 incurred at the end of the second quarter represented 78% of the approved budget 

amount.   

The major transactions made in the first three quarters included the insurance payments made 

for Liability and Workers’ Compensation made by the Liability Insurance Fund, the annual 

payment to NISRA, many road resurfacing projects, the successful completion of several 

community events and interest and principle expenditures on all outstanding debt. 

While the economy continues to remain in a period of sustained growth, consumer confidence 

has improved, and unemployment has dropped, the economy is still on shaky ground and has 

Finance Department  
       City of   

                

 

121 W. Calhoun Street  
Woodstock, I l l inois   60098  
815/338-4300 
Fax 815/334-2269 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
March 4, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 19g



 Page 2 

the potential to falter in future periods.  Therefore, the City Administration will need to 

continue to closely monitor the City’s finances.  Overall, the City has been able to maintain 

the financial health of all of its funds and minimize the use of reserves. 

Interest rates remain on a long-term plateau with the Federal Reserve Board maintaining the 

Federal Reserve Rate at its unprecedented level of a range between 0.0% and 0.25% since 

2008.  The Federal Reserve Board continues to provide a variety of support to assist with 

strengthening the overall economy.  While the Federal Reserve has begun a gradual reduction 

in the purchasing of mortgage-backed securities, interest rates are still near historic lows, 

which lower the earning potential for idle cash.  Lower interest rates do serve as a catalyst for 

growth in the overall economy.  

As has been the situation in past years, the second quarter represented the high water mark for 

investments as the City had received the vast majority of property tax revenue for tax year 

2012, which is collected and reported in this fiscal year.  In the third quarter, the City began to 

draw down on these reserves to pay for budgeted projects and services.  The utilization of 

these revenues has been properly anticipated for within the City’s budget process and based on 

receipts to date are expected to end the fiscal year in a balanced position. 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions. 

rstelford
Approved



City of Woodstock 

121 W. Calhoun 

Woodstock, IL 60098 

(815)338-4300 

 

 

 

City of Woodstock 

Quarterly Revenues & Expenditures Report 
For the Nine Months Ended January 31, 2014 

 

 

 

For the Nine Months Ended 

May 1, 2013 – January 31, 2014 



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 1 of 16 

City of Woodstock 
Revenues, Expenditures and Transfers 

Budget Vs. Actual - Narrative 

For the nine months ended January 31, 2014 
 

Overview 
 

The City’s focus of providing services in the most efficient manner possible along with 

increased efforts from the workforce to offset the significant number of open positions 

has continued to derive the desired effects of being able to provide residents with 

substantially the same levels of service as five years ago.  Recent home sales, particularly 

related to foreclosures, continue to put downward pressure on the prices in the housing 

market.  This downward pressure has been evident in the City’s declining total Equalized 

Assessed Value (EAV). 

 

On a positive note, the City continues to experience an increase in the number of new-

construction housing permits.  Through the end of January, 2014, forty-eight (48) new 

permits have been issued which is an increase of 78% compared with the prior year’s 

total of twenty-seven (27) through the end of January.  In addition, for the third quarter 

six (6) new permits were issued, which was again more than the prior year’s total of four 

(4) issued during the same quarter.  Although this represents encouraging news and 

shows some sign of the economy improving, it is still sharply down from pre-recession 

levels. 

 

For the past quarter, the economy has continued to show signs of a recovery although at 

times this recovery has been rocky.  While the Dow Jones average began the quarter at 

15,545 and climbed to 16,698 at the end December, it declined for the whole month of 

January, 2014 and ended the month at 15,698.  While many believe this may just be a 

minor market correction as investors are pulling out gains from the market in anticipation 

of future changes to Federal tax policy, many economists believe this shows the 

uneasiness of investors to trust that the US has entered into a sustained economic 

recovery. 

 

Consumer Confidence continued to climb and ended January 2014 at 80.7.  This is a gain 

from the 77.5 reported at the end of December 2013 and up significantly from October’s 

rate of 71.2.  The Conference Board considers a measurement of 90 or above necessary to 

assist with sustained economic growth. 

 

The Conference Board cited “consumers’ assessment of the present situation continues to 

improve with both business conditions and the job market rated more favorable.”  In 

addition, they cited that consumers expected that during the next 6 months the economy, 

job market, and earnings will continue to improve.  On the other hand, they remained 

skeptical regarding the future prospects for job growth. 

 



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 2 of 16 

On the jobs front, unemployment decreased nationally to 6.6%.  New jobs were 

particularly strong in construction, manufacturing, wholesale trade, and mining.  On the 

other hand, Illinois’s unemployment rate continued to be higher than the national average 

at 8.6%, although it did decrease from a rate of 8.9% at the beginning of the City’s third 

quarter.  Illinois currently has the third highest unemployment rate in the nation, with 

only Nevada and Rhode Island being higher. 

 

The State of Illinois’s fiscal problems continue to cause concern.  Although the State 

raised income tax rates substantially three years ago bringing in additional tax revenue, 

the State continues to have issues paying its bills.  On January 26
th

, Governor Pat Quinn’s 

budget director sent lawmakers a letter detailing “encouraging” news on Illinois’s unpaid 

bills.  The letter stated the backlog will be down to $5.6 billion by fiscal year end, June 

30
th

, from a high of roughly $10 billion.  While this is encouraging news, a large reason 

for this decrease is the income tax increase that was passed in 2011 that is set to expire at 

the end of 2014. 

 

Simultaneously, rumors continue about reducing the formula used to distribute State-

shared revenues to local governments.  To date, none of these rumors have gained much 

support.  The City Administration will continue to monitor the State Legislature and 

strongly oppose any legislation proposed to further reduce these revenue allocations.   

 

The City has continued with budget reductions that were first implemented in the middle 

of FY07/08 which included hiring freezes.  While the City has begun to backfill some of 

these positions that were left open during the hiring freeze, it should be noted that before 

the City fills these positions, there is an in-depth examination to insure there is a true 

need for the position that will add value to the City and, more importantly, to the 

residents and businesses of Woodstock.  To date, nineteen (19) full-time equivalent 

positions remain unfilled at the end of the third quarter.  Furthermore, the City still does 

not provide for any out-of-state travel and training.   

 

At this time, the majority of the Funds’ actual revenues and expenditures should be at 

75% of budgetary expectations.  The County has forwarded 100% of the City’s property 

tax payments for FY13/14 except for delinquencies, which do not represent a large 

portion of the total property tax collections.   

 

Due to the collection of the aforementioned property taxes combined with the receipt of 

State-shared revenues, total City revenues ended the third quarter of FY13/14 at 

$24,379,147 or 90% of the total budget.  Actual total City expenditures ended the third 

quarter at $21,745,648, 78% of the authorized budget amount.  In comparison with 

FY07/08, prior to the onset of the recession, third quarter expenditures are over $2.5 

million less in FY13/14.  This is due in large part to the City’s constant effort to control 

costs, combined with the proactive review of all expenditures, resulting in reductions to 

overtime, travel, and other purchases as well as postponing the filling of non-essential 

positions. 

 



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 3 of 16 

The City Administration continues to monitor on a monthly basis the financial 

performance of all funds and modifies the timetables for projects waiting on funding.  

Actively managing the City’s finances results in minimizing deficit spending and 

eliminating deficits in year-end fund balance for all funds. 

 

Detailed discussions regarding revenues, expenditures, and ending cash balances are 

included below.  Based on the current economic climate, the City Administration will 

need to continue its conservative, proactive approach to the management of the City’s 

finances.  In addition, focused efforts have continued in regard to actively monitoring the 

State Legislature and preventing any possible modifications to historical funding 

allocations that would allow the State to avert its own financial crisis at the expense of 

local governments. 

 

Budget vs. Actual – Revenues & Expenditures (Refer to Page 11) 
 

The highlights from the third quarter of FY13/14 include: 

 

Overall, out of the City’s twenty eight (28) funds, twenty-two (22) funds are currently at 

or exceeding 75% of budgeted revenues, while only fifteen (15) funds have ended the 

third quarter exceeding 75% of budgeted expenditures. 

 

The General Corporate Fund’s revenues of $8,258,089 represent 88% of budgeted 

revenues.  Compared with FY12/13, General Corporate Fund revenues are $92,847 below 

the level of collections received through the end of the third quarter of the previous fiscal 

year.  Property tax collections (100.6%) ended the third quarter, meeting budgetary 

expectations for the entire fiscal year.  Sales taxes (80.2%) have been strong and are 

expected to end the fiscal year significantly higher than the budget amount of $3.3 

million.   

 

Income Taxes (90.7%) are also significantly ahead of budget expectations and are 

expected to end the fiscal year above the budget amount.  This revenue has benefitted 

from an increase in economic conditions and falling unemployment in addition to a one 

time boost received in May from changes in Federal income taxes.  It is important to note 

that the State's fiscal condition continues to remain in a difficult position, and this 

revenue source has been discussed as a potential for modification to address the State's 

own budget woes.  Any significant modification to this revenue source would have a 

significant negative impact on the City's finances and would require an amendment to the 

budget adopted for FY13/14 to avoid deficit spending.  

 

Fees, which represent building permits, license revenues, library fines, and fees related to 

the Opera House ended the third quarter at 70.8% of the budget amount.  A number of 

reasons are behind the decrease in revenue including lower-than-anticipated fines at the 

library and reduced box office sales at the Opera House that can be partially attributed to 

the brutally cold weather experienced in January.  Mitigating some of this decline is 

building permit revenues that, despite remaining depressed compared with prior years’ 

levels, is reporting $90,621 collected in the first nine months of the fiscal year.  With 



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 4 of 16 

three months remaining in the fiscal year, it is expected that this revenue will be 

significantly higher than the budget amount of $90,000.  As previously discussed, 

building activity continues to remain challenged as a result of a significant number of 

foreclosed properties placing downward pressure on future new home sales, but it is 

certainly good news to see it exceed budget projections.  

 

Sales of goods and services reached 74.9% of budgeted revenue.  Despite strong 

recreation program fees usually experienced by this point of the year, due to the increased 

number of programs offered by the Recreation Department during the summer months, 

the aquatic center’s shortfall caused by cooler weather and the closing of the slides by the 

Illinois Department of Public Health has offset some of these gains. 

 

The General Corporate Fund’s expenditures ended the third quarter of FY13/14 at 

$2,997,848 or 70.2% of the budgeted amount.  Most importantly, in response to this 

fiscal crisis, the City has been able to maintain a reduced level of expenditures within the 

General Corporate Fund for five fiscal years, still reporting over $745,000 in savings or a 

reduction of 19.9% when compared with FY07/08 spending levels.  The only department 

reported within the General Fund that reported expenditures that exceeded 75% of the 

budget amount was the Recreation Department (77%).  This would be expected as the 

Recreation Department incurs additional expenditures in the summer months in response 

to the heavier levels of programming.  At this time, all Departments are expected to end 

the year below the approved budget levels. 

 

Revenues in many funds exceeded the 75% mark at the end of the second quarter due to 

property tax collections forwarded by the County.  In fact, some funds already exceed 

100% of the budget amounts, including Audit, TIF, and Environmental Management to 

name a few.  Others have exceeded 100% of budget based on strong new construction 

permits.  These funds include Park Development, Public Library Building, General Fund 

CIP, and Water & Sewer CIP.  

 

The General Corporate – CIP Fund’s revenues of $924,115 ended the third quarter at 

100% of the budget.  The Telecommunications Tax collections ended the third quarter of 

FY13/14 at 66% of the budget amount, as this revenue source still continues to fall below 

budgetary expectations.  The police (142%), streets (157%), and park (117%) impact fees 

benefited from increased building activity that has improved compared to the levels 

experienced over the last four years.   

 

The Aquatic Center Fund ended the third quarter reporting total revenues of $206,332 or 

68% of the budget.  These revenues have been negatively impacted by the Illinois 

Department of Public Health’s (IDPH) mandate to close the water slides.  During the 

slide closure, pricing was reduced to compensate for the loss of this major amenity.  

Unfortunately, the Aquatic Center will end the year not meeting revenue budget 

projections.  Total expenditures for the Aquatic Center are reporting $259,853 or 95% at 

the end of the third quarter and are expected to end the Fiscal Year at the budget amount. 

  



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 5 of 16 

The Recreation Center Fund’s revenues of $339,621 (76%) ended the third quarter right 

on budget and should end the year very close to budgeted amounts.  It is important to 

note that the Recreation Center continues to perform well in spite of the challenging 

economy.  The expenditures for this facility are also below the revenues collected to date, 

reporting $297,879 (86%).  At this point operating revenues are expected to exceed 

operating expenditures at year end resulting in a self-sufficient operation not requiring the 

use of tax dollars. 

 

The Motor Fuel Tax Fund revenues of $599,979 (81%) will end the third quarter above 

budgetary expectations.  The reason the MFT Fund is showing above the anticipated 

percentage of 75% in revenue is due to receiving the entire amount ($107,100) of the 

NOW Capital Grant.  At the end of FY13/14, MFT is expected to fall short of the budget 

amount by a little more than $5,700.  Motor Fuel Tax Fund expenditures of $721,330 or 

86% were impacted by the street resurfacing and striping costs, which were submitted for 

payment in the first three quarters, resulting in an increase in expenditures.  Motor Fuel 

Tax Fund revenue will likely continue to decline unless the State increases the tax as 

vehicles become more fuel efficient.  Currently the tax is derived from each gallon of fuel 

purchased.  As more electric cars are sold, a system will need to be established so that 

these vehicles pay for their wear and tear of streets.  Without this shift, the City will be 

less able to maintain its streets.  One method that has been proposed is to impose a tax 

based on per mile driven. 

 

As previously mentioned, the Tax Increment Financing Fund’s revenues were at 122% of 

the budget amount due to the receipt of all the property tax payments for FY13/14.  The 

Tax Increment Financing Fund continues to be hampered in FY13/14 by the global 

decline in equalized assessed values; however, the sharp decline in the TIF area’s 

property values appears to be stabilizing, resulting in property taxes exceeding the annual 

budget amount. 

 

The Public Parks Fund’s expenditures ended the third quarter of FY13/14 at $560,240 or 

75% and included the costs to maintain the City's ball fields and other park facilities that 

require routine maintenance throughout the year.  The IMRF Fund’s expenditures also 

met budgetary expectations, ending the third quarter at 74% of the budget amount.  For 

the remaining three months, the State-imposed employer contribution is expected to 

account for the small amount the fund is currently under budget. 

  

The one-time payment to NISRA represents the largest expenditure reported within the 

Special Recreation Fund.  This payment was made in July, which results in this fund 

reporting 87% of expenditures at the end of the third quarter.  In regards to the Paratransit 

Fund, invoice requests from PACE for the services provided during the year have been 

delayed.  The Liability Insurance Fund made the required payments to McMRMA for the 

City’s insurance premium in the first and second quarter and reported 94% of budgeted 

expenditures.  The Health & Life Insurance Fund’s expenditures of $1,792,375 or 73% of 

the budget amount reflect the actual claims costs incurred to provide healthcare benefits.  

This Fund is expected to benefit in the final three months from the savings that was 

realized from the change in benefit levels and health care networks.  The Debt Service 



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 6 of 16 

(100%) and Library Debt Service (100%) Funds’ expenditures indicate that all debt 

payments of the City have been made in FY13/14.   

 

In addition to revenues and expenditures, information has been presented that calculates 

net income/(loss) before transfers.  This information fluctuates on a more dramatic basis 

when viewed quarterly, since the timing involved with the collection of revenues and the 

payment of expenditures impacts net income/(loss), before transfers.  In addition, net 

income/(loss) before transfers can also be misleading, since in some cases, transfers are 

made at year end to subsidize specific activities or, in the case of the Employee Health 

Insurance Fund, transfers from other funds are the primary revenue source and represent 

the employer premiums.  Overall, the City ended the third quarter of FY13/14 with a total 

net income of $3,594,292, and represents the collection of most of the property taxes that 

occurs in the initial first two quarters of each fiscal year.  Any positive net income 

reported at year end will be closed out to fund equity, which will continue to strengthen 

the City’s financial position and build upon existing reserves.  

 

 

Revenues by Type (Refer to Page 12) 
 

Overall, the City’s tax-based revenues reached $24,379,147 at the end of the third quarter 

of FY13/14 representing 91.8% of total City revenues.  Property tax collections are 

currently 100.6% of total revenues indicating receipt of all property taxes for FY13/14.  

Sales taxes, $2,645,746 (80.2%), ended the third quarter of FY13/14 exceeding budgetary 

expectations as the local economy continues to recover.  Income taxes, $2,231,103 or 

90.7%, are exceeding budgetary expectations and reflect the decline in the State’s level of 

unemployment.  As was stated before, a certain portion of the increase is attributed to a 

change in Federal income taxes encouraging the recognition of capital gains.  In May 

2013, Federal income taxes related to investments changed which encouraged taxpayers 

to sell a large amount of assets and attributed to a large increase in income tax collections 

in that month.  The State’s own fiscal crisis continues to create the possibilities for either 

a potential reduction or even a temporary suspension to these State-shared revenues.  The 

City Administration will continue to monitor the State’s proposals and contact our 

legislators to communicate the City’s own financial concerns. 

 

Water & Sewer sales reached $3,227,778 or 67.5% of the budget amount and continue to 

lag behind budget expectations.  Some reasons for the decrease in water sales is a 

somewhat cooler than normal summer along with a large number of vacant properties 

which is attributed to foreclosed properties within the community.  In addition, some 

large industrial water users have shut down production lines in the City which resulted in 

significantly less water being purchased at these locations.  Impact fee collections of 

$505,988 or 155.2% have greatly exceeded expectations.  New housing is beginning to 

show some limited signs of recovery.  Development-related revenues still remain well 

below peak levels experienced in 2007. 

 

Fines and fees ended the third quarter at $765,516 or 70.8% of the budget amount and 

included the receipt of police and library fines.  Licenses and permits reported revenues 



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 7 of 16 

of $163,541 or 103.8% of the budget amount and was impacted by the collection of 

liquor license permit fees that are paid at the beginning of the fiscal year along with video 

gaming license fees which were not budgeted.  This revenue line item also includes 

collections from stormwater permits and building permits. 

 

Charges for services, which include membership revenues from the Recreation Center, 

Opera House ticket sales, and the Aquatic Center, reported revenue of $975,531 at the 

end of the third quarter, representing 74.9% of the annual budget amount.  While the 

Recreation programs receive the majority of their revenue in the summer months and, 

therefore, are running ahead of the budget amount, the Opera House and Aquatic Center 

have offset these gains.  Overall, charges for services are behind collections of FY12/13 

by $81,009 with a large part being attributed to the Aquatic Center being negatively 

impacted by the IDPH decision to close the water slides. 

 

Grant revenues were $892,322 or 133.2% at the end of the third quarter.  The City has 

received all the grants that it has budgeted for the year.  These grants include a payment 

from the Rural Library District, which is included in this line item, an Illinois NOW 

Capital Grant, and a Grant for Raffel Road which was recorded in the General Corporate 

– CIP Fund.  This Raffel Road grant was not budgeted and was a welcome addition as it 

will greatly help fund future General-CIP projects.  Interest income continues to be 

negatively impacted by the current interest rate market, resulting in total interest revenues 

reaching a plateau when compared with the previous fiscal year.  However, interest 

income is still outperforming the initial budget estimates, reporting 111.3% of the budget 

amount at the end of the third quarter.  Other revenues ended the third quarter of FY13/14 

at $1,159,200 or 98.7% and have benefitted from gains posted by the Police Pension 

Fund on the sale of its investments. 

 

 

Revenues by Fund (Refer to Page 13) 
 

As alluded to at the outset, total revenues of $24,379,147 represent 90.1% of the budget 

amount.  Revenues have benefitted from the collection and receipt of nearly all of the 

City's property tax revenues in the first and second quarter of the fiscal year.  The 

General Corporate Fund’s revenues of $8,258,089 represented 87.7% of the budget 

amount and also represented 33.9% of total revenues collected through the third quarter.   

 

The Water & Sewer Utility Fund’s revenues of $3,236,723 were 67.6% of the budget 

amount.  The Water & Sewer Utility Fund as was stated before continues to be hindered 

by the economy.  The Police Protection, Public Library, Illinois Municipal Retirement, 

Liability Insurance, Tax Increment Financing, and Environmental Management Funds 

received their corresponding property tax levies, which were forwarded by the County in 

the first and second quarter, resulting in all of these funds exceeding the corresponding 

budgeted revenues.  The Police Pension Fund generated gains from investment sales, as 

well as interest income and dividends, resulting in revenues exceeding the budgeted 

amount.  The Fund’s total revenue was $1,215,486 or 166.3% through the end of the third 

quarter.  While large Police Pension gains are good for the City as they will result in 



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 8 of 16 

reduced future property tax payments required, it is important to note that gains do 

fluctuate from month to month and sometimes even from year to year.  The General 

Corporate – CIP Fund benefitted from increased impact fees received through the third 

quarter resulting in revenues reporting 100.1% of the budget amount.   

 

 

 

Expenditures by Type (Refer to Page 14) 
 

Salaries ended the third quarter at $7,888,205 or 75.7% of the budget.  This area 

continues to benefit from the City’s hiring freeze of nineteen (19) nonessential positions, 

as well as the concentrated efforts to reduce overtime expenditures to alleviate some of 

the financial stress resulting from the restrained economic recovery.  It is important to 

note that although salaries are exceeding 75% of the budget amount normally expected at 

this point; these costs are expected to end the year in accordance with the budget, as the 

timing differences associated with a biweekly payroll process are finally absorbed by the 

end of the fourth quarter. 

 

Benefits were at 3,818,845 or 75.2% of budget and continue to be faced with rising health 

claim costs as well as the implementation of provisions within the Patient Protection and 

Affordable Care Act.  These increased costs, however, have been mitigated by the new 

health insurance that was put in place on January 1, 2014, which is expected to generate a 

10% savings in cost.  Personal services were at 75.9% of budget due to the payment of 

annual uniform allowances to police officers in May and costs related to the City’s 

summer community events.  At the end of the fiscal year, it is expected these line items 

will end the year in line with the budget amount.  Contractual service expenditures were 

at 70.8% of the budget amount. 

 

Commodity expenditures were at 70.8% of the budget and have benefited from the slow 

growth generated by the recovery resulting in reduced demand and a corresponding 

reduction in pricing.  The City will need to continue its proactive management of capital 

projects and may need to initiate delays when necessary to offset any further decline in 

revenue sources to prevent the establishment of deficits.  Interest on current debt 

obligations reported 89.8% of budgeted expenditures.  As was stated before, all debt 

payments for the fiscal year have been made.  Therefore, interest for the fiscal year will 

end below budget as a direct result of the refinancing of the 2004A&B Bonds. 

 

Expenditures by Fund (Refer to Page 15) 
 

Also as addressed at the beginning of this report, total expenditures are in line with 

budget expectations, reporting $21,745,648 or 77.6% at the end of the third quarter.  

Some of the apparent increases in cost are from annual payments that have already been 

incurred.  One example is the payment to McMRMA that has the Liability Insurance 

Fund at 94.3% of the budget amount.   

 



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 9 of 16 

The Water & Sewer Utility Fund’s expenditures were $3,299,825 or 84.5% of the budget.  

The Water & Sewer Utility Fund’s Water Treatment (67%), Sewage Treatment (69%), 

and Sewer and Water Maintenance (78%) expenditures ended the third quarter below 

budgetary expectations, with the exception of Sewer and Water Maintenance which has 

been impacted by numerous water main breaks caused by the extreme weather.  Debt 

payments, which all have been made for this fiscal year, are the reason for the Utility 

Fund currently being above the expected 75% mark.   

 

The General Corporate Fund’s expenditures ended the third quarter at $2,997,848 or 

70.2% of the budget amount.  As previously mentioned, total expenditures reported in the 

General Corporate Fund are less than the amounts reported in the third quarter of 

FY07/08 by over $745,000 or 19.9%.  This is a significant accomplishment and reflects 

the positive impact from the City's budget adjustments that were previously implemented 

and continue to provide tangible results without significantly reducing service levels to 

residents and businesses. 

 

The Health and Life Insurance Fund ended the third quarter at $1,792,375 or 72.6% and 

has experienced a reduction in claims levels submitted to date.  The City continues to 

implement the mandatory requirements that are necessary to comply with the Patient 

Protection and Affordable Care Act.  The IMRF Fund's expenditures reached $1,111,338 

by the end of the third quarter and have been impacted by the increases imposed by 

IMRF to the employer contributions rates, which have been somewhat offset by the 

continuation of the aforementioned hiring freeze.   

 

Police Pension Fund expenditures are currently ahead of the budgetary amount, ending 

the third quarter at $1,074,851 or 79.7%.  The retirement of several employees 

throughout FY12/13 has resulted in an increase to the associated benefit payments 

provided by this fund and the total fund expenditures when compared with the prior fiscal 

year.  These payments despite being over budget have been factored into the actuarial 

studies that fund the plan, and, therefore, should not have an adverse effect on the 

finances of the City.  The Public Library Fund ended the third quarter at $866,287 or 

74.8%.  The Liability Insurance Fund has processed the second half of the City's 

insurance payment to McMRMA, resulting in total expenditures of $658,349 or 94.3% of 

the annual budget.  The premium expenditures represent the majority of this fund's 

annual operating costs. 

 

Cash Balances by Fund (Refer to Page 16) 
 

For additional information regarding cash & investment balances, please refer to the 

Third Quarter Cash & Investment Report.  Information contained within this report 

focuses purely on the cash balances for each fund to assist the City Administration and 

City Council with determining if sufficient funds are available to finance approved 

operating expenditures and capital projects. 

 

The General Corporate Fund’s cash and investment balance of $8,017,729 represents 

41.5% of the City’s overall cash and investment balances.  It is important to note that the 



 Revenues & Expenditures – All City Funds Page 10 of 16 

General Corporate Fund's cash and investments are reduced at year end to reflect the 

approved subsidy and offset the expenditures incurred within several operating funds.  

The General Corporate – CIP Fund’s cash and investments at the end of the third quarter 

of FY13/14 was $2,077,722 and represented 10.8% of the City’s entire cash and 

investment portfolio.  The General Corporate – CIP Fund’s activity will continue to be 

closely monitored throughout FY13/14 and adjustments may be required if the economy 

enters into a secondary recession.  In light of the City Council’s dedication to 

infrastructure projects, additional revenue sources may be required in future years to 

allow for a comprehensive capital improvement program. 

 

The Water & Sewer Capacity Fund reported a total cash balance of $4,649,601 at the end 

of the third quarter reflecting the collection of impact fees in previous years that will be 

utilized in future years to repay the outstanding bonds originally issued to expand the 

Seminary Avenue Treatment Plant.  The Water & Sewer Capacity fund is used to 

separately account for the receipt of impact fees that are restricted and can only be used 

for the expansion of the City’s water & sewer system.   

 

The Liability Insurance Fund’s cash and investments of $1,385,729 includes $1.0 million 

in cash reserves to address the costs of litigating and settling a claim that would not be 

covered by the City’s insurance carrier.  The Tax Increment Financing Fund’s cash 

balance of $1,132,741 represents the collections of property taxes, which continue to 

benefit from the improvements in the downtown.   

 

Overall sufficient cash & investments are available at this time to finance budgeted 

expenditures as provided for within the FY13/14 budget.  The majority of the City’s 

funds experienced cash surpluses during the first two quarters of the fiscal year as 

property taxes are collected.  However, these surplus balances have been reduced during 

the third quarter and will continue this expected process in the fourth quarter to finance 

current operating expenditures. 

 

Next Quarter (February 1, 2014 – April 30, 2014) 
 

For the fourth quarter of FY13/14, the City Administration will need to remain 

vigilant with the day-to-day management of the City’s finances, monitoring the 

City’s revenues closely and making modifications to the fiscal year's budget where 

warranted to limit deficits at year end.  During the fourth quarter, the City will 

continue to draw down on the reserves created in the first and second quarters from the 

receipt of property taxes.  The City will need to continue to closely monitor the activity 

of the Illinois State legislature and strongly oppose any proposed modifications to 

historical-funding formulas that would impact local government distributions   

 

New Funds/Closed Funds 
 

The Revolving Loan Fund was opened at the beginning of FY13/14; however, no existing 

funds were closed through the end of the third quarter. 



City of Woodstock
Revenues & Expenditures

Budget Vs. Actual
For the nine months ended January 31, 2014

Budget Vs. Actual - Revenues & Expenditures

FY2013/2014

Revenues Expenditures

Fund Budget Actual +(-) % Budget Actual +(-) %

General Corporate 9,420,000$       8,258,089$      (1,161,911)$    88% 4,267,900$        2,997,849$      (1,270,051)$    70%

Municipal Audit 33,600              34,045             445                 101% 38,500               33,912             (4,588)             88%

Police Protection 2,426,100         2,379,212        (46,888)           98% 4,418,000          3,389,645        (1,028,355)      77%

Aquatic Center 304,700            206,332           (98,368)           68% 272,500             259,853           (12,647)           95%

Recreation Center 445,000            339,621           (105,379)         76% 346,600             297,879           (48,721)           86%

Public Parks 412,100            393,333           (18,767)           95% 747,000             560,240           (186,760)         75%

Performing Arts 437,900            352,004           (85,896)           80% 673,500             567,604           (105,896)         84%

Public Library 1,433,400         1,364,520        (68,880)           95% 1,158,800          866,288           (292,512)         75%

Public Library Building 108,100            124,152           16,052            115% 109,200             78,869             (30,331)           72%

IL Municipal Retirement 1,240,300         1,237,132        (3,168)             100% 1,496,000          1,111,337        (384,663)         74%

Motor Fuel Tax 738,300            599,979           (138,321)         81% 838,300             721,330           (116,970)         86%

Park Development 50,400              59,031             8,631              117% -                    -                  -                  0%

Administrative Adjudication 17,500              11,958             (5,542)             68% 21,000               12,025             (8,975)             57%

Wireless Alarms 263,000            186,691           (76,309)           71% 150,500             65,247             (85,253)           43%

Special Recreation 147,000            146,562           (438)                100% 135,900             118,103           (17,797)           87%

Liability Insurance 695,200            694,079           (1,121)             100% 698,000             658,349           (39,651)           94%

Paratransit 1,500                160                  (1,340)             11% 60,000               8,643               (51,357)           14%

Debt Service 414,400            388,129           (26,271)           94% 1,473,200          1,479,297        6,097              100%

Library Debt Service 328,900            327,900           (1,000)             100% 371,300             371,014           (286)                100%

Tax Increment Financing 553,200            675,919           122,719          122% 1,034,200          789,347           (244,853)         76%

Water & Sewer Utility 4,791,500         3,236,723        (1,554,777)      68% 3,903,000          2,878,020        (1,024,980)      74%

Water & Sewer Utility - CIP 244,000            381,535           137,535          156% 421,900             421,805           (95)                  100%

Police Pension 731,000            1,215,486        484,486          166% 1,348,800          1,074,851        (273,949)         80%

Health & Life 309,000            236,269           (72,731)           76% 2,470,100          1,792,375        (677,725)         73%

General Corporate - CIP 923,500            924,115           615                 100% 1,197,000          716,091           (480,909)         60%

Revolving Loan -                    -                   -                  0% -                    -                  -                  0%

Environmental Management 529,800            542,688           12,888            102% 329,000             431,675           102,675          131%

Hotel/Motel Tax 70,000              63,483             (6,517)             91% 50,000               44,000             (6,000)             88%

Total 27,069,400$     24,379,147$    (2,690,253)$    90% 28,030,200$      21,745,648$    (6,284,552)$    78%

Budget Vs. Actual - Net Income/(Loss), Before Transfers

Net Income/(Loss), Before Transfers

Fund Budget Actual +(-) %

General Corporate 5,152,100$       5,260,240$      108,140$        102%

Municipal Audit (4,900)               133                  5,033              (3%)

Police Protection (1,991,900)        (1,010,433)       981,467          51%

Aquatic Center 32,200              (53,521)            (85,721)           (166%)

Recreation Center 98,400              41,742             (56,658)           42%

Public Parks (334,900)           (166,907)          167,993          50%

Performing Arts (235,600)           (215,600)          20,000            92%

Public Library 274,600            498,232           223,632          181%

Public Library Building (1,100)               45,283             46,383            (4117%)

IL Municipal Retirement (255,700)           125,795           381,495          (49%)

Motor Fuel Tax (100,000)           (121,351)          (21,351)           121%

Park Development 50,400              59,031             8,631              117%

Administrative Adjudication (3,500)               (67)                   3,433              100%

Wireless Alarms 112,500            121,444           8,944              108%

Special Recreation 11,100              28,459             17,359            256%

Liability Insurance (2,800)               35,730             38,530            (1276%)

Paratransit (58,500)             (8,483)              50,017            15%

Debt Service (1,058,800)        (1,091,168)       (32,368)           103%

Library Debt Service (42,400)             (43,114)            (714)                102%

Tax Increment Financing (481,000)           (113,428)          367,572          24%

Water & Sewer Utility 888,500            358,703           (529,797)         40%

Water & Sewer Utility - CIP (177,900)           (40,270)            137,630          23%

Police Pension (617,800)           140,635           758,435          (23%)

Health & Life (2,161,100)        (1,556,106)       604,994          72%

General Corporate - CIP (273,500)           208,024           481,524          (76%)

Revolving Loan -                    -                   -                  0%

Environmental Management 200,800            111,013           (89,787)           55%

Hotel/Motel Tax 20,000              19,483             (517)                97%

Total (960,800)$         2,633,499$      3,594,299$     (274%)

FY2013/2014

Revenues & Expenditures - All City Funds Page 11 of 16



City of Woodstock
Revenues & Expenditures

Budget Vs. Actual
For the nine months ended January 31, 2014

Revenues by Type

FY2013/2014 FY2012/2013

% of % of

Revenues Budget Actual Budget Total Actual

Property Taxes 9,817,700$       9,873,803$    100.6% 40.5% 9,901,778$          

Sales Taxes 3,300,000         2,645,746      80.2% 10.9% 2,574,554            

Income Taxes 2,460,000         2,231,103      90.7% 9.2% 2,177,952            

Other Taxes 1,146,000         1,318,396      115.0% 5.4% 1,356,596            

Water & Sewer Sales 4,785,000         3,227,778      67.5% 13.2% 3,537,760            

Impact Fees 326,000            505,988         155.2% 2.1% 284,443               

Fines and Fees 1,081,500         765,516         70.8% 3.1% 788,796               

Licenses and Permits 157,500            163,541         103.8% 0.7% 162,057               

Charges for Services 1,302,100         975,531         74.9% 4.0% 1,056,540            

Grants 669,800            892,322         133.2% 3.7% 640,630               

Interest Income 345,100            383,968         111.3% 1.6% 398,620               

Other Revenues 1,175,000         1,395,455      118.8% 5.7% 733,479               

Total 26,565,700$     24,379,147$  91.8% 100.0% 23,613,204$        

40.5% 

10.9% 9.2% 

5.4% 

13.2% 

2.1% 

3.1% 

0.7% 

4.0% 

3.7% 
1.6% 5.7% 

Revenues by Type 

Property Taxes

Sales Taxes

Income Taxes

Other Taxes

Water & Sewer Sales

Impact Fees

Fines and Fees

Licenses and Permits

Charges for Services

Grants

Interest Income

Other Revenues

Revenues & Expenditures - All City Funds Page 12 of 16



City of Woodstock
Revenues & Expenditures

Budget Vs. Actual
For the nine months ended January 31, 2014

Revenues by Fund

FY2013/2014 FY2012/2013

% of % of

Fund Budget Actual Budget Total Actual

General Corporate 9,420,000$       8,258,089$    87.7% 33.9% 8,350,936$          

Water & Sewer Utility 4,791,500         3,236,723      67.6% 13.3% 3,541,517            

Police Protection 2,426,100         2,379,212      98.1% 9.8% 2,085,527            

Public Library 1,433,400         1,364,520      95.2% 5.6% 1,338,089            

IL Municipal Retirement 1,240,300         1,237,132      99.7% 5.1% 1,229,377            

Police Pension 731,000            1,215,486      166.3% 5.0% 712,836               

General Corporate - CIP 923,500            924,115         100.1% 3.8% 692,388               

Liability Insurance 695,200            694,079         99.8% 2.8% 690,473               

Tax Increment Financing 553,200            675,919         122.2% 2.8% 617,181               

Environmental Management 529,800            542,688         102.4% 2.2% 584,753               

All Other Funds 4,325,400         3,851,184      89.0% 15.8% 3,770,128            

Totals 27,069,400$     24,379,147$  90.1% 100.0% 23,613,204$        

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

M
ill

io
n

s 
$

 

Fund 

Revenues by Fund 

FY2013/2014

FY2012/2013

Revenues & Expenditures - All City Funds Page 13 of 16



City of Woodstock
Revenues & Expenditures

Budget Vs. Actual
For the nine months ended January 31, 2014

Expenditures by Type

FY2013/2014 FY2012/2013

% of % of

Expenditures Budget Actual Budget Total Actual

Salaries 10,426,700$     7,888,205$    75.7% 36.3% 7,840,536$          

Benefits 5,080,100         3,818,845      75.2% 17.6% 3,701,037            

Personal Services 232,300            176,331         75.9% 0.8% 166,772               

Contractual Services 4,204,600         2,975,906      70.8% 13.7% 2,976,884            

Commodities 1,812,500         1,283,374      70.8% 5.9% 1,044,826            

Capital Outlay 3,088,900         2,320,428      75.1% 10.7% 1,764,152            

Interest 707,800            635,875         89.8% 2.9% 736,228               

Other 2,477,300         2,646,682      106.8% 12.2% 2,539,047            

Total 28,030,200$     21,745,646$  77.6% 100.0% 20,769,482$        

5,569,954                               

36.3% 

17.6% 0.8% 

13.7% 

5.9% 

10.7% 

2.9% 

12.2% 

Expenditures by Type 

Salaries

Benefits

Personal Services

Contractual
Services
Commodities

Capital Outlay

Interest

Revenues & Expenditures - All City Funds Page 14 of 16



City of Woodstock
Revenues & Expenditures

Budget Vs. Actual
For the nine months ended January 31, 2014

Expenditures by Fund

FY2013/2014 FY2012/2013

% of % of

Fund Budget Actual Budget Total Actual

Police Protection 4,418,000$       3,389,644$    76.7% 15.6% 3,319,666$          

Water & Sewer Utility 3,903,000         3,299,825      84.5% 15.2% 2,766,543            

General Corporate 4,267,900         2,997,848      70.2% 13.8% 2,985,363            

Health & Life 2,470,100         1,792,375      72.6% 8.2% 1,835,036            

IL Municipal Retirement 1,496,000         1,111,338      74.3% 5.1% 1,071,113            

Police Pension 1,348,800         1,074,851      79.7% 4.9% 930,717               

Public Library 1,158,800         866,287         74.8% 4.0% 833,908               

Liability Insurance 698,000            658,349         94.3% 3.0% 529,705               

All Other Funds 8,269,600         6,555,132      79.3% 30.1% 6,497,430            

Totals 28,030,200$     21,745,648$  77.6% 100.0% 20,769,482$        

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

M
ill

io
n

s 
$

 

Fund 

Expenditures by Fund 

FY2013/2014

FY2012/2013

Revenues & Expenditures - All City Funds Page 15 of 16



City of Woodstock
Revenues & Expenditures

Budget Vs. Actual
For the nine months ended January 31, 2014

Cash Balances by Fund

FY2013/2014 FY2012/2013

Funds Actual % Actual

General Corporate 8,017,729$       41.5% 7,450,510$   

Water & Sewer - Capacity 4,649,601         24.1% 4,565,369     

General Corporate - CIP 2,077,722         10.8% 1,989,160     

Liability Insurance 1,385,729         7.2% 1,384,292     

TIF District 1,132,741         5.9% 1,473,005     

All Other Funds 2,044,256         10.6% 2,372,231     

Total 19,307,778$     100.0% 19,234,567$ 

41.5% 

24.1% 

10.8% 

7.2% 

5.9% 

10.6% 

Cash Balances by Fund 

General Corporate

Water & Sewer - Capacity

General Corporate - CIP

Liability Insurance

TIF District

All Other Funds

Revenues & Expenditures - All City Funds Page 16 of 16



City of Woodstock 

121 W. Calhoun 

Woodstock, IL 60098 

(815)338-4300 

 

 

 

City of Woodstock 

Quarterly Investment Report 
As of January 31, 2014 

 

 

 

For the Nine Months Ended 

May 1, 2013 – January 31, 2014 



 Quarterly Investment Report – January 31, 2014 Page 1 of 17 

City of Woodstock 
Quarterly Investment Report - Narrative 

As of January 31, 2014 
 

In the third quarter of the City’s 2014 fiscal year, the U.S. economy continues to grow at a 

healthy rate although slower than the second quarter rate of 4.1%.  Gross Domestic product 

(GDP) for the fourth quarter of calendar year 2013 grew at a rate of 2.8% based on “advance” 

estimates and is subject to change, which was similar to the third quarter of the calendar year that 

was originally reported at 2.8%.  Based on these estimates, GDP is expected to increase 1.9% for 

all of 2013 compared with 2.8% in 2012. 

 

The Federal Reserve continues to 

maintain its Federal Funds Rate at an 

unprecedented range between 0.0% and 

0.25%.  Current central bank forecasts 

suggest that the Federal Reserve Bank 

will keep rates in this range until at least 

2015.   

 

Because of the drastic decrease of the 

Federal Funds rate in 2008 to near zero, 

the Federal Reserve was forced to enter 

into a bond-buying program soon after to 

further stimulate the economy.  At their 

January 2014 meeting, all ten Federal 

Reserve voting members said it would 

reduce its bond-buying program in February to $65 billion.  It originally had been buying $85 

billion since the program’s inception, except for January were it had taken its first steps of 

winding down the program and purchased a decreased $75 billion. 

 

The unanimous decision seems to indicate officials are not very concerned with December’s job 

report that denoted hiring had suddenly slowed.  In addition, some economists were surprised the 

Federal Reserve didn’t mention turmoil in some emerging economies that could have a strong 

influence on the United States’ economy.  These nations, including Turkey, Brazil, India, 

Indonesia, and South Africa, have currencies that have recently fallen rapidly in value.    

 

The downside of the Federal Reserve Bank’s aggressive approach to utilizing interest rates to put 

the economy back on track is the potential 

for future inflation.  However, the Federal 

Reserve Bank continues to maintain their 

estimates for future inflation below normal 

levels.  The Consumer Price Index for 

January noted an insignificant change in 

inflation of negative 0.1%.  Year-over-year 

inflation indicated an annual increase of 



 Quarterly Investment Report – January 31, 2014 Page 2 of 17 

1.6%.  Energy prices as a whole rose 0.6%, primarily on fuel oil’s 3.7% increase, which on a 

whole probably does not affect people of northern Illinois, since this is not the primary choice 

when it comes to heating homes. 

 

With the collection of State-shared revenues by the City in the third quarter of the fiscal year 

coupled with a deflated interest rate market, the City Administration will continue to review all 

investment options to maximize the portfolio’s rate of return.  Investments will continue to 

decline in the fourth quarter of FY13/14 as funds on hand are utilized to finance operations. 

 

The City’s Police Pension investments are not included in this report.  These investments are 

selected and managed by professional investment managers that are approved directly by the 

Police Pension Board.  The Police Pension has different investment goals than the City’s 

operating investments.  State Statute recognizes this fact and allows the City’s Police Pension 

Board to invest in equities and debt securities that can provide for higher rates of return at higher 

levels of risk.  The City’s Police Pension Board has adopted a different investment policy to 

allow their investment managers to take advantage of these types of investments.  Therefore, 

investments that are held by the City for the purpose of paying operating and capital cannot be 

compared to investments held for the purpose of funding pensions for Police Officers. 

 

Investment Balances (Refer to Page 7) 

 

The City of Woodstock’s investment balance at the end of the third quarter of FY13/14 was 

$20,012,862 which is a $4,805,681 decrease from the prior quarter’s ending balance.  This 

decrease is expected as the majority of property tax is received in the first half of the year which 

is used to fund operations for the entire fiscal year.  In addition, during the third quarter 

numerous bond payments are made which include annual principal payments.  In the fourth 

quarter of FY13/14, the City administration again will expect investment balances to decrease as 

the remainder of the property tax that was received in the first half of the year is spent to fund 

operations. 

 

Investment Return (Refer to Page 8) 

 

The City’s investment return posted a slight increase in the third quarter of FY13/14, increasing 

to 0.54% in January or four (4) basis points higher than the 0.50% reported at the end of the 

second quarter.  The rate of return generated by the City’s portfolio continues to be challenged 

by the Federal Reserve Board’s decision to maintain its Federal Funds Rate at an unprecedented 

range of between 0.0% and 0.25% in an attempt to provide major economic stimulus and 

encourage growth and expansion of businesses with historically low borrowing rates.  The 

combination of investments maturing in the third quarter and the receipt of property taxes, which 

both required investment at the current depressed market rates, have continued to limit the 

growth in the overall portfolio’s investment rate of return.  The City Administration will 

continue to monitor available interest rates, balancing the amount invested within money market 

accounts with the comparable interest rates offered by certificates of deposits.   

 

Latest economic indicators still point to short-term interest rates being maintained at the 

historically low levels for an extended period.  This results in creating a difficult environment in 



 Quarterly Investment Report – January 31, 2014 Page 3 of 17 

which to invest the City’s limited funds and maximize the portfolio’s rate of return.  On a 

positive note, the effective rates for the 13-week U.S. Treasury Bills and Federal Funds Rate 

both remain at depressed lows at the end of the second quarter.  The City’s investment portfolio 

is currently earning a yield that is 52 basis points (0.52%) higher than the effective yield offered 

for 13-week Treasury Bills, which is the State’s recommended measurement for investment 

returns.  Overall, this higher rate of return would generate an additional $104,067 in investment 

income over a one-year period based on current investment balances.   

 

Therefore, the City Administration will continue to monitor the City’s portfolio with the goal of 

minimizing any decline in interest rates experienced in the fourth quarter of FY13/14. 

 

Investment Pool Liquidity (Refer to Page 9) 

 

The City invests in certificates of deposit that are issued by financial institutions.  This 

investment vehicle charges a penalty for early withdrawal.  The liquidity level of the investment 

pool indicates how quickly, on average, all of the City’s funds can be converted into cash 

without incurring any penalties.  The lower the liquidity level, the quicker the City can convert 

its investments to cash.  A higher liquidity level can cause problems with cash flows, since cash 

may not be available to fund current expenditures.  It is important to note that money market 

funds are always available and can be used to fund current expenditures. 

 

The appropriate liquidity level for an investment pool is a delicate balancing act which must take 

into account the higher rates of return offered by longer-term investments versus the need for 

cash on hand to pay current expenditures.  Moreover, future cash inflows may warrant the 

investment of additional funds on hand today to earn higher rates of return.  Finally, future 

projections regarding interest rates must be considered to determine if funds should be kept in 

liquid resources paying lower rates of interest for the short-term to invest at higher rates at a later 

date. 

 

The City’s investment pool liquidity is currently at an average of 187 days, which is 7 days 

longer than the 180 days reported at the end of second quarter of FY13/14.  Due to the current 

economic climate, maintaining liquidity levels that exceed the Finance Department’s 

recommended policy has been necessary in order to achieve a higher rate of return.  Significant 

investments in money market funds combined with the receipt of the State-shared revenues in the 

second half of the fiscal year will provide the City with sufficient access to liquid financial 

resources to meet operating expenditures as required.   

 

State statute prohibits the City from purchasing any investment with a maturity that exceeds two 

years, which corresponds with the City’s approved investment policy.  The City’s investment 

portfolio includes nineteen (19) certificates of deposit totaling $4,152,100 that mature in excess 

of one year but less than two years. 

  



 Quarterly Investment Report – January 31, 2014 Page 4 of 17 

Investments by Institution (Refer to Page 10) 

 

The City’s largest institutions for certificates of deposit and money market funds are Home State 

Bank (12.1%) and Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund (IMET) (18.5%).  The City 

Administration did not exceed the fifty-percent limit in any one institution as outlined in the 

City’s investment policy.  The City Administration will continue to monitor investment balances 

to insure that they remain below the 50% threshold.  At this point, Home State Bank and IMET 

have offered the City the highest interest rates when funds become available for investment.  All 

of the financial institutions located within the City are provided the opportunity to bid on the 

City’s funds when they become available.  The City Administration has invested a significant 

portion of its investment portfolio with local banks, allowing these banks to reinvest the money 

within the community. 

 

Investments by Type (Refer to Page 11) 

 

The City’s investment in certificates of deposit increased at the end of the third quarter from 

$13,641,100 to $13,890,100, as the City continues to take advantage of the favorable interest 

rates offered by financial institutions for longer-term certificates of deposit.  The receipt of 

property taxes in the first and second quarter also resulted in a significant increase to the 

balances reported within the City's money market accounts during the first half of the fiscal year.  

In the third quarter the money market accounts had a reduction of $4,945,319 as funds were 

drawn down for operations and debt payments.  With the exception of Home State Bank, money 

market rates have remained depressed paying in some cases as little as 0.02%.  Home State Bank 

has limited the total maximum deposits that the City can place within the bank and still earn the 

0.30% rate of return.  In the latest quarter, IMET’s .37% rate now exceeds Home State Bank and 

the City has begun to transition funds to them.  The Finance Department will continue to monitor 

market balances to insure compliance with the bank’s deposit limits.  At the end of the third 

quarter, certificates of deposit now represent 69% of the investment portfolio, while money 

market funds represent 31% of the City’s investment portfolio. 

 

The City Administration will continue to monitor investment rates of return on commercial paper 

and U.S. Treasury securities.  However, at this time, those investments have continued to offer 

lower rates of return than certificates of deposit offered by financial institutions. 

 

Investments by Maturity (Refer to Page 12) 

 

The City has a portion of its portfolio (i.e., $996,000 in certificates of deposit) that will be 

maturing during the next quarter and, in some cases, will need to be reinvested.  This figure 

represents 5.0% of the City’s total investment portfolio and illustrates the normal investment 

cycle, which corresponds with the City’s receipt of nearly all its property taxes in the first and 

second half of the fiscal year.  Typically, a portion of these funds will need to be reinvested and 

utilized to purchase certificates of deposit.  However, with the current challenged interest-rate 

environment, additional funding may need to be maintained within the money market funds until 

interest rates begin to recover and return to some sense of normalcy with the purchase of only 

those certificates of deposit that are offered at above-market rates.  The City Administration will 



 Quarterly Investment Report – January 31, 2014 Page 5 of 17 

continue to examine all investment options to try and maximize the investment return allowing 

the City’s portfolio to continue to exceed the rate of return benchmark.   

 

Interest rates are expected to continue to remain depressed in the fourth quarter of FY13/14 as 

the Federal Reserve Bank remains committed to utilizing short-term interest rates in an attempt 

to provide persistent stimulus to the overall economy and prevent a possible recession.  The 

Federal Funds Rate is expected to be maintained at its current unprecedented range of between 

0.0% and 0.25% throughout the fourth quarter.  Unfortunately, the current Federal Funds Rate is 

also driving interest rates offered on short-term investment funds even lower.  Therefore, the 

City Administration will need to continue to be proactive in reviewing investment options and 

seeking an appropriate balance between the need for liquid funds to meet operating expenditures 

with the higher rates of return offered by certificates of deposit.  

 

Money market funds are separated from certificates of deposit, commercial paper, and U.S. 

Treasury Bills since money market funds are the equivalent of demand accounts and do not have 

a maturity date.  In addition, when considering new investments, the City Administration will 

continue to only purchase investments that maximize the safety of the portfolio.  As a secondary 

goal, investments will be purchased to maximize the yield of the portfolio. 

 

Investment Collateralization (Refer to Pages 13-14) 

 

All certificates of deposit are protected by FDIC insurance.  To provide stability to the US 

financial industry, Congress has authorized a permanent increase in FDIC coverage limits to a 

maximum of $250,000.  Therefore, the City Administration will require collateralization on 

future investment balances that exceed $250,000 for individual banks.  Additional amounts 

exceeding FDIC insurance are required to be covered by collateral, usually in the form of 

municipal securities, held by the City’s agent in the City’s name (GASB Statement 3, Level 1 

custodial safeguarding, the safest level).  Collateral is required to be provided by the financial 

institutions to protect the City's interest.  The collateral levels provided by the bank(s) were as 

follows: Home State Bank (192.2%).   

 

The City’s investment policy requires that amounts exceeding FDIC insurance should be 

collateralized at 105% of the amount invested.  The amount of collateral varies by financial 

institution depending on the City’s current amount invested.  This amount fluctuates from month 

to month as the City’s investment balances change.  The collateral protects the City in case a 

financial institution becomes insolvent.  The City could then sell the collateral to recover any 

amounts lost from investing with that specific financial institution. 

 

Cash & Investments by Fund (Refer to Page 15) 

 

The General Corporate Fund continues to retain the top spot for reporting cash and investment 

balances at the end of the third quarter of FY13/14.  The City’s top five funds at the end of the 

third quarter included the General Corporate Fund ($8,017,729 or 40.1%), Water & Sewer 

Capacity Fund ($4,649,601 or 23.2%), General Corporate CIP ($2,077,722 or 10.4%), Liability 

Insurance Fund ($1,385,729 or 6.9%), and Public Library ($1,220,924 or 6.1%). 

 



 Quarterly Investment Report – January 31, 2014 Page 6 of 17 

As previously mentioned, the General Corporate Fund’s cash balance decreased in the third 

quarter due to the utilization of funds that were collected in earlier periods from property tax 

payments forwarded by the County.  The General Corporate Fund’s cash and investment balance 

is responsible at year end to offset the negative cash and investment balances reported within the 

City’s operating funds including Administrative Adjudication, Police Protection, Public Parks, 

Performing Arts and Paratransit Funds.  The General Corporate – CIP Fund’s cash balance 

increased in the third quarter as revenue from impact fees and telecommunication tax outpaced 

capital outlay expenses.  The Water & Sewer Fund reported a decrease in cash and investment 

balances while the Water & Sewer Capacity Fund’s cash and investment balance increased.  The 

Water & Sewer Capacity Funds cash and investments increased since no bond payments were 

made in the third quarter, which make the vast majority of the funds expenses.  The Tax 

Increment Financing Fund saw a decline in cash as expenditures; particularly several large 

payments related to the Old Courthouse, were made.  

 

Investment Detail (Refer to Pages 16-17) 

 

A detailed listing of the City’s investments has been provided for the City Council’s review.  The 

City utilizes nine (9) separate money market accounts and has investments with sixty-five (65) 

separate financial institutions.  The City Administration only purchases certificates of deposit 

from banks covered by FDIC insurance.  The FDIC provides coverage levels for City deposits up 

to $250,000.  Amounts on deposit that exceed $250,000 are collateralized in accordance with the 

City’s Investment Policy. 

 

Fourth Quarter of FY13/14 Investments 

 

The City Administration continues to proactively monitor the City’s investments to insure State 

requirements are adhered to while the overall portfolio’s rate of return remains maximized.  For 

the fourth quarter, the City should continue to receive State-shared revenues; however, the 

ongoing financial crisis impacting the State of Illinois may result in either further delays in 

receipts or eventual reductions to local government disbursements.   

 

As previously mentioned, the Federal Reserve Rate has been maintained at the lowest possible 

point for an extended period.  This rate has significantly influenced reductions to the short-term 

interest rates offered by financial institutions for the City’s funds.  Developer impact fees and 

capital expansion fees remain challenged although they have seen a significant increase in 

comparison with the last couple of years and may see a small bump in April as builders come in 

for permits to prepare for the summer building season.   

 

Overall, the City’s funds are performing within the reduced budgetary expectations and have 

sufficient balances to fund the FY13/14 Budget, as adopted.  The City’s investment policies have 

successfully protected its portfolio from principal loss while allowing for adequate returns on the 

City’s funds.  The City Administration will continue to maximize investment returns within the 

guidelines provided within the approved Investment Policy. 



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Monthly Investment Balances

Investment

Month Balance

February-13 19,298,290               

March-13 18,958,895               

April-13 18,700,891               

May-13 18,805,465               

June-13 22,586,503               

July-13 22,317,518               

August-13 23,215,083               

September-13 25,308,995               

October-13 24,818,543               

November-13 23,044,498               

December-13 20,302,346               

January-14 20,012,862               

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Feb-13 Mar-13 Apr-13 May-13 Jun-13 Jul-13 Aug-13 Sep-13 Oct-13 Nov-13 Dec-13 Jan-14

M
ill

io
n

s 
$

 

Month 

Monthly Investment Balances 

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 7 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Investment Return Versus 13-Week U.S. Treasury Bill

City of 13-Week Federal

Month Woodstock U.S. Treasury Bill Funds

February-13 0.53% 0.11% 0.14%

March-13 0.53% 0.07% 0.09%

April-13 0.53% 0.05% 0.14%

May-13 0.53% 0.04% 0.09%

June-13 0.50% 0.04% 0.07%

July-13 0.48% 0.04% 0.09%

August-13 0.48% 0.04% 0.08%

September-13 0.48% 0.02% 0.09%

October-13 0.50% 0.05% 0.08%

November-13 0.51% 0.06% 0.07%

December-13 0.53% 0.07% 0.07%

January-14 0.54% 0.02% 0.07%

The Illinois State Treasurer has suggested that the interest 

rate offered on 13-Week U.S. Treasury Bills be the benchmark

for finance officers.  The Federal Funds rate is the interest

rate offered to financial institutions for the overnight deposit of

funds.  This rate influences future interest rates.

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

Feb-13 Mar-13 Apr-13 May-13 Jun-13 Jul-13 Aug-13 Sep-13 Oct-13 Nov-13 Dec-13 Jan-14

In
ve

st
m

e
n

t 
R

e
tu

rn
 

Month 

Investment Return vs. 13-Week U.S. T-Bill 

City's Investment
Return

U.S. Treasury Bills

Federal Reserve Funds

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 8 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Investment Pool Liquidity in Days

Average Finance

Investment Pool Department

Month Maturity in Days Policy

Feb-13 158 120

Mar-13 153 120

Apr-13 139 120

May-13 174 120 The City's Investment Policy does not allow

Jun-13 146 120 for the purchase of securities with maturities

Jul-13 178 120 that exceed two years.  As a general rule,

Aug-13 183 120 this policy insures cash availability for 

Sep-13 173 120 emergency needs.

Oct-13 180 120

Nov-13 194 120

Dec-13 204 120

Jan-14 187 120

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

220

240

Feb-
13

Mar-
13

Apr-
13

May-
13

Jun-13 Jul-13 Aug-
13

Sep-
13

Oct-
13

Nov-
13

Dec-
13

Jan-14

Li
q

u
id

it
y 

in
 D

ay
s 

Month 

Investment Pool Liquidity in Days 

Average Investment Pool Maturity in
Days

Finance Department Policy

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 9 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Investments by Institution

Third Quarter Second Quarter

FY2013/2014 Investment FY2013/2014

Institution Investments Percentage Investments

Home State Bank 2,412,979$               12.1% 4,239,892$          

Illinois Funds 36                             0.0% 25                        

IMET 3,709,747                 18.5% 6,937,526            

Other Deposits 13,890,100               69.4% 13,641,100          

Total 20,012,862$             100.0% 24,818,543$        

The City's Investment Policy requires that investments in any

institution shall not exceed more than 50% with the exception

of investments with the U.S. Treasury.

Home State Bank 
12% 

Illinois Funds 
0% 

IMET 
19% 

Other Deposits 
52% 

Investments by Institution 

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 10 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Investments by Type

Month

Feb-13 10,732,500$          8,565,790$               -$                    -$                     

Mar-13 10,633,500            8,325,395                 -                      -                       

Apr-13 10,734,045            7,966,846                 -                      -                       

May-13 10,922,800            7,882,665                 -                      -                       

Jun-13 11,396,800            11,189,703               -                      -                       

Jul-13 11,650,100            10,667,418               -                      -                       

Aug-13 12,894,100            10,320,983               -                      -                       

Sep-13 13,143,100            12,165,895               -                      -                       

Oct-13 13,641,100            11,177,443               -                      -                       

Nov-13 13,890,100            9,154,398                 -                      -                       

Dec-13 14,139,100            6,163,246                 -                      -                       

Jan-14 13,890,100            6,122,762                 -                      -                       

147,667,345$        109,702,544$           

Certificates of 

Deposit

Money Market 

Funds U.S. Treasury Commercial

69% 

31% 

Investments By Type 
January 31, 2014 

Certificates of Deposit

Money Market Funds

 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

Investments by Type 

Commercial

U.S. Treasury

Money Market Funds

Certificates of Deposit

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 11 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Investments by Maturity

Maturity Investment Investment

Month Amount Percentage

February 498,000$                  2.5%

March 498,000                    2.5%

April -                            0.0%

May 747,000                    3.7%

After May 12,147,100               60.7%

Money Market 6,122,762                 30.6%

Total 20,012,862$             100.0%

#REF!

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

 February  March  April  May  After May

Millions ($) 

Month 

Investments by Maturity 

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 12 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Collateralization for Investments

Amount FDIC Requires Collateral Held

Institution on Deposit Insurance Collateralization by City's Agent

1st Equity Bank Northwest 249,000$               249,000$                  -$                    -$                     

Ally Bank 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

American Express Centurion Bank, UT 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Banco Popular of North America 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Bank Leumi USA 247,200                 247,200                    -                      -                       

Bank of Baroda, NY 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Bank of China, NY 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Bank of Hapoalim- New York, NY 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Bank of India, NY 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Bank of the West 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Beal Bank USA, Las Vegas, NV 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

BMW Bank of North America 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Brand Banking Co. 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Bridgewater Bank 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Capital City Bank & Trust 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Cathay Bank, LA, CA 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Choice Financial Bank, Grafton, ND 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Citizens State Bank, OK 250,000                 250,000                    -                      -                       

Comenity Capital Bank, Salt Lake City, UT 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Compass Bank 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Crestmark Bank 200,000                 200,000                    -                      -                       

Discover Bank 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Doral Bank- San Juan PR 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Enerbank - Salt Lake City, UT 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Everbank 187,000                 187,000                    -                      -                       

Fifth Third Bank 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

First Bank of Puerto Rico 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

First Bank Richmond NA, IN 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

First Business Bank, Madison, WI 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

First National Bank of Omaha 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

GE Capital Bank 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

GE Capital Retail Bank 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Gibraltar Bank- Lubbock- TX 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Goldman Sachs Bank - NY 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Home State Bank 2,412,979              250,000                    2,162,979            4,157,324            

Key Bank, National Association 100,000                 100,000                    -                      -                       

Live Oaks Banking Company 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Meridian Bank, National Association 99,000                   99,000                      -                      -                       

Merrick Bank, Salt Lake City 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Mizuho Corporatate Bank USA 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

National Republic Bank of Chicago 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

New York State Bank of India 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

One West Bank 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Orange Savings Bank, Orange, TX 125,000                 125,000                    -                      -                       

Oriental Bank, Hato Rey, PR 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

PlainCapital Bank- Lubbock, TX 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Preferred Bank 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Prime Alliance Bank 150,000                 150,000                    -                      -                       

Private Bank 246,900                 246,900                    -                      -                       

Safra National Bank - NY 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Sallie Mae Bank, Murray UT 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Silvergate Bank - La Jolla, CA 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

Sovereign Bank 248,000                 248,000                    -                      -                       

State Bank of Texas 247,000                 247,000                    -                      -                       

Sterling Savings Bank, Spokane, WA 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Synovus Bank - Salt Lake City 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

TCF  National Bank 100,000                 100,000                    -                      -                       

TCM Bank, National Association 150,000                 150,000                    -                      -                       

Town North Bank- Dallas, TX 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Union National Bank & Trust 99,000                   99,000                      -                      -                       

WEX Bank- Midvale, Utah 249,000                 249,000                    -                      -                       

Total 16,303,079$          14,140,100$             2,162,979$          4,157,324$          

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 13 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

The City's Investment Policy requires collateralization

for certificates of deposit which exceed FDIC insurance.

The collateral provided must be equal to 105% of the

deposits not covered by FDIC.  Excess collateralization

is usually requested to safeguard against changes in

market conditions.

 -

 4

 8

 12

 16

 20

 24

H
o

m
e

 S
ta

te
B

an
k To

ta
l

M
ill

io
n

s 
$

 

Financial Institutions 

Collateralization for Certificates of Deposits 

Collateral Held Which
Exceeds City's
Deposits
City's Deposits
Covered by FDIC
Insurance
City's Deposits
Covered by Collateral

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 14 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Total Cash & Investments By Fund - FY13/14 & FY12/13

FY2012/2013

Fund 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter 4th Quarter

General Corporate 8,017,729$            8,066,233$               6,228,946$          3,767,572$          

Municipal Audit 20,980                   30,298                      38,050                 22,597                 

Police Protection (2,342,405)             (1,261,613)                (709,414)                                     -  

Aquatic Center 36,842                   59,019                      110,325               105,926               

Recreation Center 70,100                   54,507                      84,588                 90,166                 

Public Parks (259,299)                (77,189)                     (43,434)                                       -  

Performing Arts (242,502)                (116,563)                   (54,912)                                       -  

Public Library 1,220,924              1,480,372                 1,208,268            826,224               

Library Building 335,822                 366,938                    339,524               293,817               

IMRF 1,188,502              1,566,751                 1,303,478            1,062,708            

Motor Fuel Tax 77,716                   22,019                      148,170               149,558               

Park Development 143,901                 141,632                    115,070               84,870                 

Administrative Adjudication (67)                         (332)                          654                      1,050                   

Wireless Alarm 116,666                 121,666                    72,371                 25,123                 

NISRA 97,524                   110,892                    43,533                 69,064                 

Liability Insurance 1,385,729              1,374,615                 1,378,386            1,352,018            

Paratransit (8,483)                    (5,607)                       (1,339)                                         -  

Debt Service (1,020,908)             45,974                      8,984                                           -  

Library Debt Service (42,038)                  246,921                    132,024               1,076                   

TIF District 1,132,741              1,457,215                 1,519,281            1,293,458            

Water & Sewer 911,869                 1,018,372                 1,086,488            1,197,339            

Water & Sewer - Capacity 4,649,601              4,593,383                 4,815,637            4,689,871            

Escrow 567,373                 719,777                    724,060               657,188               

Health/Life (83,371)                  (1,204)                       (8,569)                 (39,445)                

General Corporate - CIP 2,077,722              1,318,912                 1,615,583            1,447,337            

Revolving Loan 300,000                 300,000                    300,000               300,000               

Environmental Mgmt. 865,646                 1,176,347                 1,026,442            743,458               

Hotel/Motel Tax 89,464                   67,742                      35,888                 69,981                 

Total Cash & Investments 19,307,778$          22,877,077$             21,518,082$        18,210,956$        

Cash Balance (705,084)$              (1,941,466)$              (799,436)$           (489,931)$            

Total Investments 20,012,862$          24,818,543$             22,317,518$        18,700,887$        

General Corporate

Water & Sewer - Capacity

General Corporate - CIP

TIF District

Water & Sewer

FY2013/2014

40.1% 

23.2% 

10.4% 

5.7% 

4.6% 

16.1% 

Cash & Investments by Fund 

General Corporate

 Water & Sewer - Capacity

General Corporate - CIP

TIF District

Water & Sewer

Other Funds

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 15 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Investment Detail - January 31, 2014

Investment Rate Maturity Investment

Amount of Return Date Income

Money Market

Home State Bank $2,412,978.63 0.30% 2/1/2014 614.81$               

Illinois Funds 36.24                     0.01% 2/1/2014 0.00                     

IMET Funds 2,273,939.50         0.37% 2/1/2014 714.58                 

IMET Funds 101,005.61            0.37% 2/1/2014 31.74                   

IMET Funds 293,708.64            0.37% 2/1/2014 92.30                   

IMET Funds 114,805.81            0.37% 2/1/2014 36.08                   

IMET Funds 338,197.34            0.37% 2/1/2014 106.28                 

IMET Funds 308,784.65            0.37% 2/1/2014 97.03                   

IMET Funds 279,305.70            0.37% 2/1/2014 87.77                   

Total 6,122,762.12$       0.35% 1,780.59$            

Certificates of Deposit

1st Equity Bank Northwest $249,000.00 0.89% 3/26/2014 188.22$               

Ally Bank 248,000.00            0.95% 7/7/2014 200.10                 

American Express Centurion Bank, UT 249,000.00            0.60% 5/4/2015 126.89                 

Banco Popular of North America 249,000.00            0.60% 3/26/2015 126.89                 

Bank Leumi USA 247,200.00            0.55% 5/11/2015 115.47                 

Bank of Baroda, NY 249,000.00            0.40% 7/16/2014 84.59                   

Bank of China, NY 249,000.00            0.55% 1/5/2015 116.31                 

Bank of Hapoalim- New York, NY 248,000.00            0.45% 11/4/2014 94.78                   

Bank of India, NY 249,000.00            0.45% 8/27/2014 95.17                   

Bank of the West 249,000.00            0.60% 4/30/2015 126.89                 

Beal Bank USA, Las Vegas, NV 249,000.00            0.40% 7/9/2014 84.59                   

BMW Bank of North America 248,000.00            1.00% 7/18/2014 210.63                 

Brand Banking Co. 249,000.00            0.50% 1/16/2015 105.74                 

Bridgewater Bank 249,000.00            0.50% 6/29/2015 105.74                 

Capital City Bank & Trust 249,000.00            1.06% 7/14/2014 224.17                 

Cathay Bank, LA, CA 248,000.00            0.60% 6/22/2015 126.38                 

Choice Financial Bank, Grafton, ND 249,000.00            0.40% 10/27/2014 84.59                   

Citizens State Bank, OK 250,000.00            0.40% 9/22/2014 84.93                   

Comenity Capital Bank, Salt Lake City, UT 249,000.00            0.45% 11/28/2014 95.17                   

Compass Bank 248,000.00            1.00% 6/30/2014 210.63                 

Crestmark Bank 200,000.00            0.50% 7/15/2014 84.93                   

Discover Bank 248,000.00            0.95% 7/3/2014 200.10                 

Doral Bank- San Juan PR 249,000.00            0.60% 2/17/2015 126.89                 

Enerbank- Salt Lake City, UT 249,000.00            0.45% 1/23/2015 95.17                   

Everbank 187,000.00            0.55% 6/16/2014 87.35                   

Fifth Third Bank 249,000.00            0.40% 2/6/2014 84.59                   

First Bank of Puerto Rico 249,000.00            0.75% 5/18/2015 158.61                 

First Bank Richmond NA, IN 249,000.00            0.40% 5/28/2014 84.59                   

First Business Bank, Madison, WI 248,000.00            0.40% 1/20/2015 84.25                   

First National Bank of Omaha 249,000.00            0.40% 8/2/2014 84.59                   

GE Capital Bank 248,000.00            1.00% 6/30/2014 210.63                 

GE Capital Retail Bank 248,000.00            1.00% 6/30/2014 210.63                 

Gibraltar Bank- Lubbock- TX 249,000.00            0.80% 8/28/2015 169.18                 

Goldman Sachs Bank - NY 248,000.00            1.00% 7/7/2014 210.63                 

Key Bank, National Association 100,000.00            0.45% 2/6/2015 38.22                   

Live Oaks Banking Company 249,000.00            0.45% 5/16/2014 95.17                   

Meridian Bank, National Association 99,000.00              0.70% 4/22/2015 58.86                   

Merrick Bank, Salt Lake City 249,000.00            0.50% 3/28/2014 105.74                 

Mizuho Corporatate Bank USA 249,000.00            0.40% 8/27/2014 84.59                   

National Republic Bank of Chicago 150,000.00            0.60% 6/9/2014 76.44                   

National Republic Bank of Chicago 99,000.00              0.60% 6/9/2014 50.45                   

New York State Bank of India 249,000.00            1.00% 1/11/2015 211.48                 

One West Bank 249,000.00            0.46% 7/17/2014 97.28                   

Orange Savings Bank, Orange, TX 125,000.00            0.50% 2/6/2015 53.08                   

Oriental Bank, Hato Rey, PR 249,000.00            0.35% 10/20/2014 74.02                   

Plaincapital Bank- Lubbock, TX 249,000.00            0.45% 2/17/2015 95.17                   

Preferred Bank 83,000.00              0.75% 2/3/2014 52.87                   

Preferred Bank 83,000.00              0.75% 2/3/2014 52.87                   

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 16 of 17



City of Woodstock
Quarterly Investment Report

As of January 31, 2014
(Excludes Investments Held by the City's Police Pension Fund)

Investment Rate Maturity Investment

Certificates of Deposit Amount of Return Date Income

Preferred Bank $83,000.00 0.75% 2/3/2014 52.87$                 

Prime Alliance Bank 150,000.00            0.45% 5/21/2014 57.33                   

Private Bank 246,900.00            0.56% 5/11/2015 117.43                 

Safra National Bank - NY 248,000.00            0.70% 7/31/2015 147.44                 

Sallie Mae Bank, Murray UT 248,000.00            1.00% 7/25/2014 210.63                 

Silvergate Bank- La Jolla, CA 248,000.00            0.65% 4/20/2015 136.91                 

Sovereign Bank 248,000.00            0.85% 7/7/2014 179.04                 

State Bank of Texas 49,000.00              0.55% 12/17/2014 22.89                   

State Bank of Texas 99,000.00              0.55% 12/17/2014 46.25                   

State Bank of Texas 99,000.00              0.50% 1/12/2015 42.04                   

Sterling Savings Bank, Spokane, WA 249,000.00            0.40% 7/24/2014 84.59                   

Synovus Bank - Salt Lake City 249,000.00            0.40% 7/18/2014 84.59                   

TCF  National Bank 100,000.00            0.45% 4/23/2015 38.22                   

TCM Bank, National Association 150,000.00            0.40% 10/29/2014 50.96                   

Town North Bank- Dallas, TX 249,000.00            0.50% 2/26/2015 105.74                 

Union National Bank & Trust 99,000.00              0.83% 5/14/2014 69.79                   

WEX Bank- Midvale, Utah 249,000.00            0.60% 4/30/2015 126.89                 

Total $13,890,100.00 0.62% 7,219.84$            

Total Investments 20,012,862.12$     0.54% 187 Days 9,000.43$            

Quarterly Investment Report - Janaury 31, 2014 Page 17 of 17



 

       City of    

               
 

Office  of  the City Manager                                                  phone 815 .338 .4301  

Rosco e C.  S te l ford  I I I ,  Ci ty Manager                                                      fax 815 .334 . 2269  

121  W.  Calhoun  St reet                                    c i t yman ager@woodsto cki l . go v  

Woodsto ck,  I l l ino is  60098                                                www.woodsto cki l . gov  

 

 

 

 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 

CC:  Department Directors 

 

FROM: Roscoe C. Stelford III, City Manager 

 

DATE:  February 26, 2014 

 

RE:  FY14/15 Annual Budget Workshop 

 

 

Consistent with the Budget Schedule prepared and provided to the City Council in January, the 

FY14/15 Budget will be transmitted to the City Council at the March 18, 2014 meeting.  In order 

to comply with State statute and City Code, the Budget Public Hearing is scheduled for the 

Council meeting on April 1
st
 with the adoption of the FY14/15 Budget scheduled for the April 

15
th

 regularly-scheduled City Council meeting.  In between the Budget Public Hearing and the 

adoption of the Budget, the Mayor and City Council historically have scheduled a Budget 

Workshop.  However, Mayor Sager will be out of town for a portion of this period.  

Consequently, the available dates for the Budget Workshop are April 2, April 3, and April 11 

through April 14.  Please bring your calendars with you to the March 4
th

 meeting and be 

prepared to select a date for the Budget Workshop. 

 

If you have any questions in the interim, please feel free to contact me. 

mamraen
Typewritten Text
March 4, 2014 City CouncilManager's Report 19h


	March 4, 2014 City Council Agenda
	A. Minutes of Previous Meetings: February 18, 2014
	B. Warrants:
	Warrant # 3605
	Warrant #3606
	MFT #532
	C. Minutes and Reports: 
	Opera House Advisory Commission Report -2013
	Police Department Report  - January 2014
	Transportation Commission Minutes - January 15, 2014
	Historic Preservation Commission Minutes - January 27, 2014

	Manager's Report No.19
	1. Boards and Commission Appointment
	2. Ryder's Woods Property Grant
	Doc.1

	3. BYOB License
	Doc.2

	4. Zoning Variation - 1040 Lake Avenue
	Doc.3

	5. Award of Contract - Hill Street Water Tower
	6. Purchase - Police Vehicles

	DISCUSSION ITEMS:
	7. Quarterly FInancial Reports
	8. Budget Workshop




